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Securities and Exchange Commission
Division of Corporation Finance _ : '
~ Office of International Corporation Finance ' A /Q / g
450 Fifth Street, N.W. .
Washington, D.C, 20549

i (20707

Dear Sir/Madam
Re: Tennyson Networlks Limited - File # 82-5138

We are furnishing herewith pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b)(1)(i) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") the following additional documents that
the Tennyson Networks Limited (the "Company") has made public, distributed or filed
with the Australian Stock Exchange Limited (the "ASX") or the Australian Securities and
Investinents Commission (the "ASIC") since 13 December 2000, the date of its
application for an exemption from Rule 12g3-2(b) of the Securities Exchange Act:

1. Announcement to ASX re: Annual Financial Report
The attached documents are being furnished with the ynderstanding that they will not be
deemed "filed" with the Securities and Exchange Commission or otherwise subject to the
liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and that neither this letter nor the furnishing
of such documents shall constitute an adrnisgsion for any purpose that the Company is
subject to the Exchange Act. '
If you have any questions or comments, please call the undersigned at +61 3 8558 0424.
Yours sincerely
R.A.PULLIA
Company Secretary

Enclosure

TENNYSON NETWORKS LIMITED A.C,N, 009 BOS 288
14 BUSINESS PARK DRIVE, NOTTING HILL., VIC, 3168. AUSTRALIA.
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY
Tennyson Networks Limited (ABN 98 009 805 298)
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Mr Edward M Barry

Mr Jlohn W Fletcher

Mr Rass W Lelghton

Mr Geoffrey | Rubython

Company Secretary
Mr Ricl A Pullia

Registered Office
14 Business Park Drive, Notting Hill, Victoria 3168

Telephone: International: +67 3 8558 0400 Domestic: 03 8558 0400
Facsimlle: |nterpational: +61 3 8558 0497 Domestjc: 03 &8558 0497

Email; tny@tennyson.com,au  Webs|te; www fennysopn.com.au

Auditors

Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants
120 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 30Q0

Staock Exchange Listing
Tennyson Netwarks Ltd shares are quoted an the Australian Stock Exchange (TNY)

Bankers

National Australia Bank Ltd
547 Blackburn Road, Mt. Waverley, Victoria 3148

Solicitors

Freehills
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Computershare Inyvestor Services Pty Ltd
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TENNYSON NETWORKS LTD :

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors of Tennyson Networks Ltd submits {ts repart in respect of the year ended 30

Jjune 2003.

Directars

The names and detalls of the directars in office during or since the end of the financial ye,ar‘are:

Names

H C Parker

E M Barry

R W Laighton

J W Fletcher

G J Rubython

R W Woss

L A Coleman

Qualifications, Experience and Speclal Responsibllities

Mr Parker Is the nan-executive chzirman, During the mid 1990’s he was Group
Managing Director of Commercial apd Consumer for Te|stra Corporation. His ather
directorships include Dun & Bradstreet (Aystralia) Pty Ltd, Datacom Services Australla
Ltd, The Swann Group and The Volante Group. Mr Parker is a member of he
Company’s Audit Committee,

Mr Barry, a non-executive director, js a successful businessman who has a
particularly strong understanding of the Australian communications-praducts market,
having built Queensland's fargest distribution channel for Ericsson praducts. Having
sold that bysiness, he contjnues to tajke an acrive Interest In promoting innovative
technology and lending his expertise to promising Australian companies, Mr Barry is
the Chairman of the Company's Remuneratian Committee,

Mr Leighton, a non-executive directar, |s an experienced business entreprensaur who
has guided a numper of companies through their development stage into the
international market place. He has particular experience and expertise with
technalogy companies. He s a director of global electronlc payment and smart card
campany Intellect Holdings Ltd. Mr Leighton is a member of the Campany’s
Remuneration Committee,

Mr Fletcher, a non-executive diractor, is a chartered accountant and the arincipal of
John Fletcher and Assoclates, an accounting firm he established in 1985 specialising
in small busipess and investment. He is a director of Neoside Pty Ltd, Mr Fletcher
was appointed 2 director an 16 July 2003 and Is Chairman of the Company's Audit
Committea,

Mr Rubythop, an exacutive directer, is a co-faunder and director of Neoslde Pty Ltd.
He is an experienced businessman having consulted to industry participants on
building infrastructure technologles, founded and managed an Investment company
and pioneered microcomputer CAD/CAM systerns in Australia during the 1980s, He
also.gained. international and varled experlence as a divisional manager with Agfa,
the European photographic industry group, Mr Rubython has been active on husiness
representative podles and has served as chaleman on varlous advisory committees.
Mr Rubython was appointed a director on 16 July 2003.

Mr Woss, a non-executive director, has over 35 years experience in investment
banking, mineral exploration, oil and gas exploration, property development, equity
Investment and technology Investment. Mr Woss resigned as a directar en 16 July
2003,

Mr Coleman was the Company’s Chlef Executive Officer, He resigned as a director
on 23 September 2002,

Unless indicated otherwise, all directors held their position as a director throughout the entire financial
year and up to the date of this repert.
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Directors' Interests ' .

Relevant interests of the directors in the shares, optlans or any other interests of Tennyson Networks Led
and related bodies corporate as at the date of this report are;

Ordinary Optlans
Shares
No. No.
"HC Parker - 2,000,000
RW Leighton 13,799,571 -

Mr HC Parker holds R66,947 Tennyson Networks Ltd shares jojntly with Mrs S Parker.
Mr RW Leighton has an interest In a company helding 4,712,121 Tennyson Networks Ltd shares.
Mr EM Barry has an interest [n a company holding 1,984,848 Tennyson Networks Ltd shares.

Mr & Rubython is a Direcror and shareholder pf Neoside Pty 1td. Pursuant to a Subscription Agreement
between Neoside and the Company, Neoside has agreed 1o subscribe for 397,040,000 ordinary shares
in the Company at $0,025 per share, subject to the apprroval of shareholders at a general meeting.

Mr JL Aetcher is a Diractor and shareholder of Neoside Pty Ltd, Pursyant to a Subscription Agreement
between Neoside and the Company, Neaside has agreed to suhscrlbe for 391,040,000 ardinary shares
fn the Company at $0.025 par share, subject to the approval of shareholdars at a general meeting.

None of the directors hold any shares in any other related body corporate.

Directors’ Meetings

During the year eanded 30 Jyne 2003, the Company held 38 mesetings of directors. At the date of this
report the Company has @ Audit Committee and a Remuneration Committee. Messrs Fletcher and
Parker are the members of the Audit Committee and Messrs Barry and Leighton are the members of the
Remuneration Committee. The attendance of the dlrectars at the meetings of the Board and its
committees were;

BOARD OF AUDIT REMUNERATION
DIRECTORS COMMITTEE COMMITTEE

Artended Maximum Attended Maximum Attended Maximum

While Possible while Possible Whife Possible

in Office  Attended In Offlce Attended In Office Atrended
HC Parker 3B 38 2 2 - -
EM Barry 38 38 - - 2 2
RW Lelghten 34 38 - - 2 2
RW Woss 37 38 - -
LA Caleman 3 3 - - - -

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the finan<ial year was the development, sales and
marketing of its flagship product SOX® (Smart Office eXchange).

SOX® is a data/vajce canvergence platfarm which provides users with a saphisticated telephane system,
computer networking and access to the Internet, The product Ihtegrates the volce, dats, fax, volcemail
and internet communications requirements of SME and branch offices,
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On 30 June 2003 the consolidated entity acquired the New Zealand-based Ericsson Data Services
bysiness, Renamed Datareach, this business designs and markets a range of products that enable
breaadband Internet communications over traditional copper natworks,

Corpaorate Structure

Tennyson Networks Limited is the parent entity. All of the consolldated entity's business operations are
conducted in its subsidiaries, Tennyson Technologles Py Ltd and Datareach Ltd,

Dividends

No dividends were paid ar declared by Tennyson Networks Ltd since the end of the previous financlal
year. The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

Review and Results of Operations

Sales revenue for the year ended 30 June 2003 was $1,780,284 compared to $2,500,060 in the
previous correspanding period, a reduction of §718,776. The consclidated entity's loss, after income
tax, for the year ended 30 Jupe 2003 was $3,201,120, a reduction of $1,680,751 on the previous
torresponding period’s loss of 54,881,871,

During the 20Q3 financial year, the difficult trading environment in the telecommunications and
technolegy sector continued to Impact on the consolidated entity, The lower sales in 2003 also reflect
the reduced marketing activity In the second half of the year when the SOX business was to be sold and
the restrictions placed on the business due to tighter management of working capital, In response, the
consalidated entity continued to focus on reducing its costs.

In an effort to broaden |ts product range and provide sustainable revenue and profit growth, the
consolidated entity also investigated acquisition oppertunities.

The consolidated entity acguired the New Zealand-based Data Services division of Erlesson
Caommunications Limited. This business, renamed Patareach, deslgns, markets and supports a range of
high-speed broadband internet preducts for International markets. Datareach has a range of products
that are [deally sulted to rake advantage of the rapid giabal uptake of broadband, always-on fast
Internet. .

The effective date of acquisition was ] January 2003 and settlement was completed on 30 June 2003.
However, in accordance with applicable a¢counting standards, the financial results of the Dartareach
business for the six manths ended 3C Jupe 2003 have not been included in the financial report.

Datareach performed well In the six-month period, recording sales «f $8,015,000, a gross margin of
$3,748,000 and earnings before interest, tax and acquisitlon costs of $2,472,000.

During the year the consalidated entity ralsed $937,000 from the jssue of shares for working capital
and debt repayment purposes, On 17 July 2003 the consolidated entity announced a $10 million
capltal ralsing. This capltal Injectlan comprised an initial $224,000 placement to private investors and,
subject o the approval of shareholders at a general meeting, a proposed $9.776 milllon placement ta
Neoside Pty Itd, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement executed with that company by the consolidated
entity.

Slgnificant Changes In the Srate of Affalrs

There were no other significant changes In the state of affairs of the consolidated entity that occurred
during the financlal year, not otherwise disclosed in this report or In the financlal statements.
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Significant Events after Year End N

The directors are not aware of any other mafter or circumstance since the end of the financial year, not
otherwise dealt with in Note 32 of the financial statements or this report, that has significantly, or may
significantly, affect the operations of the consolidated entlty, the results of those aperations or the state
of affairs of the consolidated entity in subsequent financial years.

Likely Davelopments and Future Resules

The directors forsee that the 2004 financial vear will be a peried during which the changes made in the
2003 financlal year, |n particular the acquisition of the Datareach busipess, will have thelr full impact.
There are no other planned developments at the date of this repart. Tha directers have excluded from
this repart any further Information on the likely developments In the operations of the cansoclidated entity
and the expected results of those operations in future flnancial years, as the directors belleve thar it
would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to one or more entiti¢s in the coansolldated entity.

Share Options

Details of options granted ta directors or relevant officers as part of their remuneration are set out in the
section of this report headed Diractors' and Officers’ Remuneration. Details of shares issued during or
since the end of the financial year, due to the exercise of an optlen, are set out in Note 18 to the
financial statements and form a part of this report.

Direcrors' and Officers’ Remuneration

Remuneration of directors and senjor executjves of the company Is established by the Remuneration
Comm|ttee. Remuneration js daterrnined as pan of an annual perfermance raview, having regard to
market factors, g performance evaluation process and independent remuneration advice. Far executive
directors and officers, remuneration packages generally comprise salary and performance based
incentive programs, Executives are also provided with longer term incentives through the employee
share ownership and option schemes, which act to align the executivas’ actlons with the interests of the
shareholders, Non-execurive directors are not entitled to participate in staff share and option
ownership schemes,

The Board meets annually to review Its own performance, The Chairman is responsible for evaluating
the performance of the senfor executives. These evaluatlons aré based on specific criteria, inciuding the
company’s performanpce, whether long-term strateglc objectives are being achieved and the
achievement of indjvidual performance ohjectives,

Details of the remuneratian of each director and the mast highly remunerated axecutive officers of the
company and the consalidated entity for the financial year are as fallows:

Base Super- Options
Emolument I[ncentive anpnuation ™ Other Tortal Granted Amortised

5 $ 3 $ $ in 2003 Cost §
Dlrectors
H C Parker 45,000 - 4,050 - 49,050 - 21,581
R W Woss 20,000 - 1,800 - 21,800 - ~
R W Leighton 20,000 ™ 1.800 - 21,800 - -
E M Barry 20,000 - 1,800 - 21,800 - ~
L A Coleman $5,247 - 2,630 15,767 73,643 - -
Executive Officers
R A Pullla 151,838 - 14,383 - 166,226 - 6,985
G G Newman 134,033 7.500 9,021 - - 150,554 - 14,300
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The company has adppted the fair value measurement pravisions of ED 108 "Share~based Payment"
prespectively for all optlons granted ta dlrectors and relevant executivag in the current or prior financial
year, which have pot vested as at 1 July 2002, The falr value of such grants is belng amortised and
disclased as part of director and executive emoluments on a straight~line bas{s over the vesting period.
From 1 July 20Q2 options grapted as part of director and execptive emajuments have been valued using
the Hull binomial gption pricing method.

Tax Consalidation

Effective T July 2002, for the purpeses of income taxatian, Tennyson Newworks Limited and lts 100%
owned Australian subsidiary have formed a tax consclidated group,

Indemnification of Directors and Qfficers

Insurance and Indemnity arrangements astablishad in the previous year concernlng offlcers of the
ronsplidated entity were renewed or continued during the year to 3Q June 2003, Each director and
officer of the <onselidated entity Is Insured apainst all liakjlitles and expenses arlsing as a result of wark
performed In thelr raspective capacities. to the extent permitted by law. The company Is prohibited
under Its cantract of Insurance from disclosing the premium pald fer such cover,

This report is made in accardance with a resplution of the directers,
For and on behalf of the Board.

PN

H C parker
Chairman

t
-

Melhourne 30 Septamber 2093
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

YEAR ENDED 20 June 2003

Nates

Sales Revenue 2
Cost of Sales

Gross Profit

Other Revenue from ordinary
activities

Distribution Expenses

Sales, Marketing and Support
Expenses

Occupancy Expenses

Administrative Expanses

Product Improvement Expenses

Borrowing Costs 3

Other Expenses from ardinary
actjvities 3

™~

Loss from Ordinary Activities
Before Income Tax Expense 5

Income Tax Expense
Relating to Ordinary Activitjes 5

Loss fram Ordlnary Activities
After Ingome Tax Expense

Net Loss attributable to members
of Tennyson Networlks Ltd

Net exchange difference an
translation of ovarseas controlled
entity 18

Share Issue costs 17

Total revanueas, expenses and valuation
adjustments attributable to members of
Tennyson Networks Ltd and recognised
directly in equity

Total changes in equity other than
thase resulting from transactions with
owners as owners attributable to
members of Tennyson Networks Ltd

Basic & dlluted earnlngs per share
- cents per share (lass) 4

NO. 233
Consoljdated Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002

$ $ % Y
1,780,284 2,500,060 - -
(990,528) (1.264,427) - -
789,756 1,235,633 - -
23,280 328,693 9,363 84,808
(21,023) (20,561) - -
(1,020,188) (1,301,088) - -
(135,688) (165,072) - (10,527)
(1,305,889)  (1,290,534) (477,267)  (325,168)
(48,346) (135,366) (36,755)  (101,168)
(558,274)  (2,504,857) (1,638,135) (5,448,080)
(3,201,120)  (4,881,871) (2,142,794) (5,800,135)
(3,201,120) (4,881,B71) (2,142,7924) (5,800,135)
(3,201,120)  (4,8B1,871) (2.142,794) (5,800,135)
(11,544) - - -
(26,480} (371,142} (26,480) (371,142)
(38,024) (371,142) (26,480)  (371,142)
(3,239,144)  (5,253,013) (2,169,274) (6,171,277)

{2.25) (5.15)

The accompanylng notas form an integral part of this Statement of Financial Performance,

7

P.9-43
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STATEMENT OF FINANCJAL POSITION
AT 30 June 2003

Notes Consolldated Parent
2003 2002 2008 2002
$ ] 5 5
Current Assets ’
Cash Assets 30 84,993 533,265 313 409,687
Receivablas 6 329,094 1,015,244 - 8,590
Inventories 7 1,015,365 1,572,930 - -
Other Current Assets 3 24,674 58,498 5,368 33,758
Total Current Assetls 1.454,126 3,179,937 5,681 453,035
Non-Current Assets
Recejvablas 9 - - 495,490 124,864
Other Financjal Assets 10 - - 2 2
Property, Plant and Equipment 11 £99,967 105,571 - -
Other 12 - - - -
Total Non-Current Assets 599,967 105,571 495,492 124,866
Total Assets 2,054,093 3,285,508 501,173 577,901
Current Liabllities
Payables 13 1,115,793 1,144,451 400,566 165,760
Interest~Bearing Liabilities 14 972,097 - 815,740 -
Provislons 15 338,752 216,044 30,000 - 25,000
Total Current Liabilitles 2,426,642 1,360,485 1,346,306 190,760
Nen-Current Liabijlities
Provisians 16 31,737 27,1558 - -
Total Non-Current Liab[lities 31,737 27,158 - -
Total Liabilities 2,458,379 1,387,650 1,346,306 180,760
Net Assets/(Liabilities) (404,286) 1,897,858  (845,133) 387,141
Equity
Contrlbuted Equity 17 36,437,639 35,527,119 36,437,639 35,527,112
Reserves 19 (1,544) 10,000 10,000 10,000
Accumulated Losses 20 (36,840,387) (33,639,261) (37,292,772) (35,749,978)
Tortal Equity/{(Deflclt) (404,2886) 1.897.858 (845,133) 387,141

The accompanying notes form an Integral part of this Statemant of Financial Position.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 30 June 2003

Notes

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts fram Customers

Payments to Suppliers & Employees
Interest Recelved

Other Income

{nterest Paid

Net Cash Flows used in Operating
Activities 30b

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

TENNYSON TECMHOLOGY 61 3 35583965

Payments for property, plant and equipment (53,306}

Proceeds on disposal of equipment
Paymaent for Data Services business
Loans ta contralled entitles

Net Cash Flows used in Investing
Activities

Cash Flows from Finapcing Acrivities

Proceeds from Share Plan Participants
Proceeds from issue of shares

Payment of share [ssue expenses
Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Repayment of Hire Purchase and Leases

Net Cash Flows used in Financing
Activities

Net (Decrease)/Increase in cash held
Cash at beginning of Fipanclal Year

Cash at end of Financlal Year 30a

NO. 233
Cansolidated Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ $ 3

2,308,560 1,976,862 - -
(3,713,063) (7,262,357} (347,205) (723,273)
7,854 64,673 6,815 63,706
13,699 254,020 12,137 1,512
(48,346)  (135,368) (36,755) (101,168)
(1,431,296) (5,102,168) (365,008) (759,223)
(70,893) - (5,110)
1,727 10,000 - 10,000
(848,014) - - -
- - (1,870,626)(4,524,864)
(899,593) {60,893) (1,870,626)(4,518,974)
537,000 - £37,00Q0 -
400,000 6,454,848 400,000 6,454,848
(26,480)  (371,142) (26,480) (371,142)
1,565,408 500,000 1,465,740 500,000
(583,311 (1,000,000) (550,000) (1,000,000)
- (7.860) - -
1,882,617 5,675,846 1,826,260 5,583,706
(448,272) 412,785 (409,374) 304,509
533,265 120,480 409,687 105,178
84,993 533,265 313 409,687

The accampanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Cash Flaws,

P.11-43
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Statement of Sign|ficant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting

() Preparation

The financial report is a general-purpese flnancial repart, which has been prepared In accordance
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 jincluding applicable Accounting Standards. Other
mandatery professlonal reporting regulrements (Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views) have also
been complied with. The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical casts
and, except where stated, da not take inte account changing meney values or current valuations of
non-current assets.

(i) Going Concern

The financlal report of the consolidated entity has been prepared on the going concern basis. The
directors continue to monitor the ongeoing funding requirements of the consolidated entity and the
ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going corcern is dependent on the provisien of
short-term funding af up to $2 million and shareholder approval of the recapltallsation of the
cansolidated entity as dascribed in Note 32, Subsequent Events.

{b) Changes in Accounting policies

The accounting policies adaoptad are consistent with those of the previous year except for the
accounting policies with respect to employae benefits and provisiens, contingent lfaplifties and
contingent assets.

Emplayee Benefits
The cansolidated entity has applled the revised AASE 1028 “Employee Benefits” for the first time

from 1 July 2002,

The ljahility for wages and salaries and annual leave s now calculated using the remuneration rates
the ¢ompany expects to pay as at cach reporting date, not wage and salary rates current at
reporting date.

There was no materlal change to the consolidated financial repert as at 1 July 2002 as a result of this
change,

(c) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the company, being the
parent entity, and its contralled entitias in accordance with Accoupting Standard AASBE 1024
{Consolidated Accounts). The financial statements of controlled entities are included in the

cansolidated financial statements from the date control commences until the date ¢contral ceases.

Investments in controlled entities are carrled In the flnanclal statements of the company at the lower
of cost and recoverable amount.

In preparing the financial statements all balances and transactions between entltles included In the
consolidated entity have been eliminated,

10
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(d) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised when goods have been dispatched to a custamer pursuant to a sales arder,
and the assoclated risks have passed to the carrler or customer.

(e) Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of overseas controlled entities which are classified as self-sustaining are
converted to Australian currency at balance date using the current rate method as set out in
Accaunting Standard AASRE 1012 (Forelgn Currency Translatlan), Any exchange gains/losses arising
from the effect of currency fluctuations on these investments are taken diractly to the exchange
fluctuations reserve on consolidation.

(f) Taxes

Ceneral

The financial statements apply the principlas of tax-effect accounting. The income tax expense In
the Srarement of Financlal Perfermance represents the tax on the pre-tax accounting profit adjusted
for income or expense never 1o pe assessed or allowed for taxation purposes. The provision for
deferred income tax [lability and the future income tax benefit include the tax effect of differences
between fncome and expense Items recognised in different accounting perjods for book and tax
purposes, calculated ar the tax rates expected to apply when the differences reversa, The future tax
benefit relating to tax losses is not carrled farward as an asset unless the reallsation of such benefits
can be reqarded as bejnag virtually certain. '

Coods and Serviges Tax

Revenues, expapses and assets are recognlsed net of the amount of goads and services tax (GST),
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable fram the taxation authority, In these
circumstances the GST (s recognlsed as part of the cost of acquisition of the asser or as an expense
item. .

Recejvables and payables are stated with the amount of GST .included,

Cash flows are Included In the Statements of Cash Flows on a gross bas/s, The GST components of
cash flows arising froam jnvesting and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation autharity are classifled as operating cash flows.

(g) Inventories

Inventorijes. are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost is assigned aon an average
cost basis.

{h) Recoverable Amounts of Non-Current Assets

All nan-current assets are reviewed at least annually to determine whether thelr carrying amaunts

require write-down to recoverable amounts. Recoverable amaounts are determined by using cash
flews that are not discounted to present values.

11
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{l) Leased Assets

Assats acquired under finance lagses are capitalised and amortised over the expected usefu} life of
the asset. Lease payments are allocated between Interest expense and reduction in the |ease
liabitity.

Qperating lease assets are not capjtalised and, except as described below, rental payments are
charged against prafit from ordinary activities in the peried in which they are incurred. Provision is
made for future operating lease payments in relation to surplus lease space when [t s first
determined that the space will be of no prabahle future bepefit. Operating lease Incentives are
recagnised as a liability when received and subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments
between rental expense and the liability.

(J) Property, Plant and Equlpment
Propenty, plant and equlpment are measured at cost.
Depreciation and Amortisation

Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment over a
period of between 3 and 5 years. Leasehold improvements are amertised over the period of the
lease term.

(k) Research and Develppment Costs

Research and development costs relating to the development of new products are deferred ta future
periods to the extent that future benefits are expected, beyond any reasonabje doubt, to equal or
excead those costs and any future costs necessary to gjve rise ta the bepefits.

Such deferred casts are amortised ovar future accounting periods not exceeding 3 years in arder to
match the costs with related benefits an the basis of expected future sales. In the current financial
year costs incurred in development wark primarily relate te improvements made {n the functienality
and features of existing products, Accardingly those costs are expensed as Incurred.

Research and development grants are brought to account when recejved,

() Employee Entjtlements

Provision is made for employee eptitlement benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering
services up to the reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave and long
sepvice leave, :

Waags. salaries and apnual leave : ‘

Liabilities for employee entitlements such as wages, salaries ang annual leave and any other current
employee entitlements are calculated at nominzl amounts to cover accumulated entitlements at
b‘alance date based on remuneration wageé and salary rates that the company expects to pay
including oncosts, ’

Liabilities for employee entitlements inclyde, where appropriate, farecast future increases In wages
and salarles, grossed up for ancosts, and are based on the consolidated entity's experlence with staff
departures.

12
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Long Service | eave

Liabilities relating to ldng service leave have been calculated to represent the present value of
estimatad futyre cash outflows discounted to balance date.

Liabllities which are not expected to be settled within twelve menths are discounted using the rate
attaching to those national government securities which closely match the terms of maturity of the
related entitlement.

(m) Employee Share and Option Ownership Plans

Certain employees are entitled to participate in share and option ownership plans. The details of
these plans are descrihed in Note 23. Na remuneration expense [s recognised In respect of
employee shares and options issued.

(n) Contributed Equity

Ordinary share capital bears no special terms or condltions affecting Income or capital entitlements of
the shareholders.

(o) Receivablies
Trade receivables are initially recorded at the amount of the contracted sales proceeds.

Provision for doubtful debts Is recognlised to the extent that recovery of the outstanding recelvable
balance is considered less than likely. Any provision established is based on 2 review of all
outstanding amounts at balance date. A specific provision is maintained for identified doubtful deprts,
and a general provision is maintained in respect of recaivables which are doybtful of recovery but
which have not been specifically identified.

(p) Earnings per share

Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing
equity {other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Difuted EPS is calculated as pet profit attributable to members, adjusted for:
e costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;
« the after tax effect of dividends and interest assoclated with dilutlve potential ordinary
shares that have been recognised as expepnses; and
e ather non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would resuit
form the dilution of potentlal ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares,
acjusted for any bonus element.
(q) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where they relate to the flnancing of prnjects under
constructlon where thay are capitalised up to the date of commissioning or sale,

13
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(r) Payables

Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the
conslderation to be paid in the futures for goods and services receivad, whether or not billed to the
cansolidated entity. Payables to refated parties are carried at the principal amount. Interest, when
charged by the lender, Is recognised as an expense oh an accrual basis, Deferred cash settlements
are recognised at the present value of the outstanding consideration payable on the acquisition of an
asset discounted at prevailing commercial berrowing rates,

(s) Interest Bearing Liabilities

Al loans are measured at the princlpal amount, Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues,

(v) Provisions

Provislons are racognised when the sconomic entity has a legal, eguitable or censtructive obligation
to make a future sacrifice of economic beneflts to other entities as a result of past transactions or
other past events, it |s probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obllgatian. A provision for warranty s recognised
for all products under warranty at the reporting date based on sales volume and past experience of
the level of rapajrs and returns.

{u) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative jnformation has been reclassifled to achleve consisteney [n disclosure
with changes in presentation in the current year.

14
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Cansoclldated Parent
2003 2002 2008 2002
3 3 $ $
2. Revenue from ordinary activities
Included In the loss from erdinary activities
far the year are the following items of
operating revepue
Revenue from Operating Actlvities
Revenue from sale of products 1,780,284 2,500,060 - -
Revenue from non-operating actlvities
Interest — other persons /carporations 7,854 64,673 6,815 63,706
Proceeds an disposal of property, plant
and equipment 1,727 10,000 - 10,000
Other revenue 13,699 254,020 2,548 11,102
23,280 328,693 9,363 84,808
Tortal Revenues from
ordinary activities 1,803,564 2,828,753 9,363 84,808
3. Expenses and fosses/(gains)
Lass from ardinary activitles before Income tax for
the year has baen determined after charging the
following specific items.
Charges
Borrowing Costs;
Interest~other persons/carparations 34,087 29,747 27,390 -
Interest~directors & director-related entitles 7417 48,941 7,417 48,941
Charges-other persons/cerporations 6,848 6,678 1,948 2,227
Charges- directors & director-related entities - 50,000 - 50,000
Total Borraw|ng Costs 48,346 ~ 135,366 36,755 101,168

15
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Consalidated Parent
2003 ‘ 2002 2003 2002
$ . $ S $

3. Expenses and losses/(gains) [continued]

Other Expenses:
Depreciation

- Leasehold improvements 2,743 860 - -
- Plant and eqyipment 71,927 78,743 - 2,600
Amartisation of leased assets - 9,962 - -
Net cost of assets sald 1,682 26,611 - 26,611
Management fees pajd - 186,459 - 186,459
Provision for employee entitlements (20,996) 19,729 - (11,180)
Decrement in value of inventories 334,697 - - -
Other operating expenses 193,221 251,083 138,138 243,580
R&D costs written off : ~ 2,045,584 - -
Bad debts written off ~ 177,783 - -
Doubzful debts expense/(written pack) (25,000) © (297,957} 1,500,000 5,000,000

Toral Other Expenses 558,274 2,504,857 1,638,135 5,445,080

Net (gain) / loss from disposal of property,

plant and equipment (45) 16,611 - 16,611

Consolidated
4, Earnings per Share 2003 2002

Net joss used In the calculation of basig
and diluted earnings per share ($) 8,201,120 4,881,871
Basic and Dijluted Earnings Per Share

- cents per share (loss) _ (2.25) {8.15)

Weighted average number of shares
used in Basic Earnings Per Share 142,543,488 94,789,892

All potential ordinary sharas, being options to acquire ordinary shares and conversion of notes into
shares, are not considered dilutive as the exerclse of the options or conversion of notes would not
decrease the baslc loss per share,
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Consolidared Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ L4 5 $
5. Income Tax
Income Tax Expense
Loss from Ordinary Activitles (3,201,120) (4,881,871) (2,142,794) (5,800,135)
Prima facie income tax benefit
thereon at 30%4 (960,338) (1,464,561) (642,838) (1,740,041)
Tax effect of permanent and other
differences:
Non deductible expenses 41,041 1,038 23,300 478

(819,2958) (1,463,523) (619,538) (1,739,563)

Future income tax beneflt not brought

o account
- Tax losses 906,447 946,087 158,674 250,045
- Timing differences 12,848 517,456 460,864 1,489,518
Total Tax Benefit - - - -

At 30 June 2003, Tennysan Networks Ltd had estimated carried forward tax losses nf $5,041,973
(2002: $4,513,059). The bernefit of these losses of $1,512,592 (2002: §1,353,318) has not been
brought to account, as realisation is not virtually certain,

At 30 June 2003, Tennyson Networks Ltd and its controlled entities have estimated carried forward
Australian income tax losses of $24,152,327 (2002: $21,730,838). The beneflt of these |asses of
$7,245,698 (2002: §6,339,251) has not been brought to account, as realisation is not virtually certain,

These benefits will only be oprained if:

{a) future assessable Income Is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient 1o enable the benefit
to be realized;

{b)  the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legisjation continue to be complied with; and

(c) no changes in tax legislatlen adversely affect the ¢onsolidated entity realising the benefit.

Tax consolidation

Effectiva 1 July 2002, for the purpasas of income taxation, Tennyson Networks Limited and {ts 100%
owned subsidiaries have formed a consolidated group. The head entity of the tax consolidated group s
Tennysan Networks Limited, The tax canselidated group has not vet evaluated any potentlal effect on
the carrted forward losses of entering into the new tax consolldation regime.

17
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Consolidated Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002

5 § , $ 5
6. Recejvables (Current)
Trade Debtors (a) 195,141 906,624 - -
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (75,000) (100,000) - -
Net Trade Dehtors : ' 120,141 B06,624 - -
Other Debtars 208,853 208,620 - 9,580
Net Other Debrtors 208,953 208,620 - 9,590
Total Current Receivables 329,094 1,015,244 - 9,690

{a) Amounts receivable in foreign currency disclosed in Note 31(c),

7. Inventories (Current)

Components - at cost 845,897 5$85,650 - -
Finished Gpods - at cost 717,284 1,225,096 - -
Less: Pravision for diminution in value (547,816) (247,816) - -

Total Inventories at Lower of
Cost and Net Realisable Value 1,015,365 1,572,930 - -

B. Other Current Assets

Prepayments 24,674 58,498 5.368 33,758

9, Recelvables (Non-Current)

Nan-trade amounts owing hy wholly
owned contrelled entltjes (a) -
Less: Provision for diminution -

29,995,490 28,124,864
(29,500,000) (28,000,000)

l

Total Nan-Current Recejvables - 495,490 124,864

(@) The recaverability of this amount Is dependent upen the further development, sales and marketing
of a controlled entty's telecommunications technology.

10. Other Financjal Assets (Nan-Current)

Shares in controlled entitles (refer Note 22) - - 2 2

Total Other Flnanclal Assets - - 2 2
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105,571

Consolldated Parept
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ $ $
11. Property, Plant & Equipment
Leasehold improvements
Cost
Openlng Balance 31,7517 23,441 - -
Additions ' - 8,310 - -
Closing Bzlance 31,751 31,751 - -
Accumulated Amortisation
Opening Balance (24,301) (23.441) - -
Amortjsation far the year (2,743) (860) - -
Closing Balance (27,044) (24,301 - -
Net Book Value 4,707 7,450 - -
Plant and Equipment
Cost
Opening Balance 802,759 818,013 - 72,727
Additions 53,308 62,583 - 5,110
Disposals (23,899) (77,837) - (77,837)
Acquisitions 517,442 - - -
Closing Balance 1,349,608 802,759 - -
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening Balance (704,638) (677,122) - (48,627)
Pepraciation for the year (71,927) (78,743) - (2,600)
Disposals 22,217 51,227 - 51,227
Closing Balance (754,348) (704,638) - -
Net Roak Value £95,260 98,121 - -
Plant and Equipment under [ease
Cost
Opening Balance 127,092 127,092 - -
Closing Balance 127,092 127,092 - -
Accumulated Deprecjation ‘ :
Opening Balance (127,082) (117,130) - -
Depreciation for the year - (9,962) - -
Closing Balance (127,092) (127.892) - -
Net Rock Value - - - _
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 599,967 - -
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Consolidated Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ 3 3
12. Other Non~-Current Assets
Deferred Research and Development Costs
- Deferred research and development
costs - apening 14,453,847 14,453,847 - -
- DPeferred research and development
costs Incurred during the year - - - -
- Deferred research and development
costs - ¢losing 14,453,847 14,453,847 - ~
- Accumulated amortisation - opening (14,4532,847) (12,408,263) - -
- Amortisation of R & D costs - - - ~
- Deferred costs writtan off - (2,045,584) - ~
- Accumulated amortisarion - closing (14,453,847) (14,453,847) - ~
Net Deferred Research
& Develgpment Costs ~ ~ - -~
13. Payables (Current)
Trade Creditors and
Accruals - unsecured 592,188 768,046 18Q,629 31,908
Othar Creditors 269,612 299,757 24,699 57,206
Amounts payable 1o directors ‘
and director-related entitles  Refer Note 28 253,995 76,648 195,238 76,648
‘Total Current Payables 1,115,793 1.144,45) 400,566 165,760
14, Interest—-Bearing Liabjlities (Currenrt)
Secured
Line of Credit (a) 56,357 - - -
Unsecured
Loans from directors and director-related
entities (b) 915,740 - 915,740 -
Tatal Interest Bearing Liabilities 972,097 - 915,740 -

20
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14. Interest-Bearing Liabiliries (Current) [continued]

(a) This facility is secured by a registered debenture over the all of the Company's assets and was fully
drawn at balance date.

(b} Puring the vear Messrs E M Barry, R W Lelghton, H C Parker and R W Woss advanced unsecured
Joans to the Company. At balance date an aggregate amount of $915,740 rermains outstanding -
refer Note 28,

Consolidared Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002

$ $ 5 $
15, Provislons (Current)
Auditors’ Fees ' 30,000 25,000 30,000 25,000
Empleyee Entitiements 258,752 141,044 - -
Product Warranties 50,000 50,000 - -
Total Current Provisions 338,752 216,044 20,000 25,000
16. Provisions (Nan-Current)
Employee Entitlements . 31,737 27,155 - -
Total Non Current Provisions 31,737 27,155 - -
17. Contributed Equity
Ordinary Shares 36,437,639 35,527,119 36,437,639 35,527,119

No. of Qrdinary Shares

2003 2002

Movemens In Issued shares

for the year:

Qpening number of shares 130,733,625 44,245,192
Issued during the year (@) 31,233,333 58,760,135
Options converted during the year (b) - 1,100,000
Convertlble notes converted during the year (c) - 26,628,298
Closing Number of Shares ' 161,966,958130,733,625

Quring the year transaction costs arlsing from contributed equity was $26,480 (2002: $371,]42).

2]
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17. Contributed Equity [continued] No. of Ordinary Shares
2003 2002

(2) Issued during the year:

On 6 December 2002, issue of 4,165,668 fully pald

ardinary shares at an issue price of $0.03 per share 4,166,668 -
On 17 January 2003, issue of 13,733,332 fully pald

ordimary shares at anh issye price of $0.03 per share 18,733,332 -
on 1 April 2003, issue of 13,333,333 fully paid

ardinary shares at an issue price of $0.03 per share 13,333,333 -

On 16 August 2001, issue of 42,396,500 fully paid

ordinary shares ar an Issue price of §0.11 per share - 42,396,500
©On 22 November 2001, issye of 908,967 fully pald

ordlnary shares at an Issye price of $0.11 per share - 908,967
On 15 January 2002, jssue of 454,668 fully paid

ordinary shares at an [ssue price of $0.11 per share - 454,668
On 30 May 2002, issue of 15,000,000 fully paid

ordinary shares at an lssue price of 50,04 per share - 165,000,000

31,233,333 58,760,135

{b) Options converted during the year:

Conversion of options exercisable at $0.0375
on or befare 15 june 2002 - 1,100,000

- 1,100,000

(¢} Convertible Notes converted during the year:

Conversion of convertible notes at $0.0428 - 7,703,081
Conversion of conpvertible nates at $0,0554 - 18,925,217
- 26,628,298

(d) Terms and Conditiens of Contributed Equity:
Ordinary shares have the right 1o recelve dividends as declared, and, in the event of winding up
the company, to particlpate [n the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in propartien to
the number of and amounts paid up an shares held,

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to ane vote, elther in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the
company.
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18, Other Equity Instruments
Number of Options

20013 2002
Options to acquire shares in Tennyson Networks Lid
a) Employee Share Option Plan
On issue at beglinning of year
Exercisable at $0,60 on or before 16 December 2001 - 259,750
Exercisable at §7.00 on or before 30 Juna 2004 40,000 185,000
Exercisable at $1.05 ap or befare 30 June 2004 : 5,000 5,000
Exercisable at $£0.70 on or before 1 November 2004 60,000 259,000
Exercisable at $0.04 an or before 27 Novemnber 2005 © 1,260,000 -
Exercisable at §0.05 on ar before 19 March 2006 500,000 -
1,885,000 708,750
Issued during the year
Exerc(sahle at $0.04 on or befare 27 Novembar 2005 - 1.460,000
Exercisable at $0.05 on or befare 19 March 2006 - 500,000
Exercisable at $1.00 on or before 320 June 2006 S e
- 1,960,000
Cancelled during the year
Exercjsable at §0.60 an or befare 16 Decemper 2007 ) - ‘ (259,750)
Exercisable at $1.00 on or before 30 June 2004 - (145,000)
Exerc|saple at $0,70 on or before 1 November 2004 (15,000) (199,000)
Exercisable at $0.04 on or before 27 November 2005 (110,000) (200,000)
{125,000) (803,750)
Outstanding at Balance Date 1,740,000 1,865,000
Cancefled subsequent to balance date ’
Exercisable at $§1.00 an or befare 30 June 2004 . (10,000) -
Exercfsahle at $0.04 on or before 27 November 2005 (50,000) -
(60,000) -
Quistanding at Date of Dlrectors’ Report 1,680,000 1,865,000

e o . B
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Numbher of Options

2003 2002
b) Other Optians
On issue at beginning of year
Exerclsable at $0.11 an pr befere 15 june 2002 - 1,100,000
Exercisable at $0.11 on or before 31 Decemher 2003 4,700,000 -
4,700,000 1,100,000
Issued during the year T - T o
Exercisahfe at $0.11 on or before 3] Dacember 2003 - 4,700,000
Exercisable at $0.10 on or before 12 July 2008 (a) 7,500,000 -
Exerclsable at $0.10 on ar before 12 July 2004 {b) 10,000,000 -
17,500,000 4,700,000
Exercised during the year
Exercisable at $0.11 on or befare 15 June 2002 - (1,100,000)
- (1,100,000)
Cancelled during the year T
Exercisable at $0,71 on ar before 31 December 2003 (2,700,000} -
(2,700,000) -
Outstanding at Balance Date 19,500,000 4,700,000
lssued subsequent to balance date
Exerclsable at $0.10 on or before 12 July 2003 (a) - 7,500,000
Exercisable at $0.10 on or before 12 July 2004 (b) - 10,000,000
- 17,500,000
Cancellaed subsequent to balance date
Exarcisable at $0,10 on or bafaore 12 july 2003 (a) (7,500,000) -
(7,500,000) -
b
Qutstanding at Date of Directors’ Report 12,000,000 22,200,000

Key Terms and conditions of ather options:

(a) An issue of 7,500,00Q optians, at nil cansideration, expiring on 12 July 2003 a1 an exercise
price of $0.10 to the placement investors to whom shares were issued on 30 May 2002,

(b) An Issue of 10,000,000 options, at nll consideration, expiring on 12 July 2004 at an exerclse
price of $0,10, to the holders of secured convertible notes thar were Jssued on 15 July 2002.
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19. Reserves

Capital (a)
Foreign Currency Translation {b)

Movements in Raserves
(a) Capital

Balance at end of year

(b) Farelgn Currency Translation
Ralance at beginning of year

Exchange fluctuation on transiation
of overseas controlled entity

Balance atr end of year

20, Accumulated Losses

Accymulated Lasses at the Beginning
of the Financial Year

Loss from QOrdinary Activitles after
related Income tax expense

Accumulated Losses at the End
of the Financial Year

Consolidated

2003 2002
§ $
10,000 10,000
(11,544) -
1,549 10,000
10,000 10,000
(11,544) -
a1san -

(33,639,261)

(3,207,120

(28,757,390)

(4,881,871}

NO.233 . P.27-43

Parent
2003 2002
S §
10,000 10,000
10,000 10,000
10,000 10,000

(35,149,978) (29,349,843)

(2,142,794) (5,800,135)

(38,840,381)

(33,639,26))

(37.292,772) (35,149,978)
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Consolidated Parant
2003 2002 2003 2002
5 5 s 3
21. Expenditure Commitments
Operating leases (non - cancellable)
Not later than one year 69,650 - - -
Later than one year but not
jater than five years ' - 139,300 .- - -
Later than five years - - - -
Total Operating Lease Commitments 208,950 - - -

Operating Lease ¢commitments relates to |ease of a huilding,

22. Investment in Controlled Entities

The consalidated financial statements at 20 June 2003 include the following contralled entities, The
financlal years of all controlled entitles are tha same as that of the parent entity.

Cast of Parent Equity HoldIng
Entity's lnterest
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ % %
Conrrolled Entities
Tennyson Technologjes Pty Ltd 2 2 1Q0 100
Datareach Limited (a) 1 - 100 -
Tennysen Netwarks Limited (b) - 3, - 100
.__.3.-.. _.._.5._

{a) Tiari Holdings Limited, a New Zealand non-operating company, was acquired by Tepnhyson
Technologles Pty Ltd on 5 February 2003. It was renamed Datareach Limited on 9 Aprj] 2003 and
acquired certain assets and liabilities of the Data Services business of Ericsson Cammunications Limited
on 30 Jupe 2003, :

{b) Tennyson Networks Limited was the company's operating subsidiary based and incarporated in the
United Kingdom. This entity was liguidated during the year.

Teninyson Technologies Pty Ltd is directly cantrolled by Tennyson Networks Ltd, and is incorparated in
Australia.
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23. Employee Entitlements and Superannuation Commitments
The consolldated entity employed 45 employees as at 30 June 2003 (2002; 28 ampioyees).

a) Emplioyee Entitlements

The aggregate employee entitfement liapllity at balance date comprises: s
Consolidated Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002
s $ 5 (]
~ Accrued wages, salaries and opcasts 89,480 63,416 - -
- Provisions {Current) 258,752 141.044 - -
- Provisions {Non-Current) 31,737 27,155 - -
379,969 231,615 - -

b) Employee Share and Oprtlon ownershlp schemes

On 31 August 2000 the Company established an Employee Share COption Plan to assist in the
attractfon, retentjon and motivation of key employees.

The total number of optjons that can be jssyed under the plan, when combined with all other
shares jssued by the company pursuant to this or any other employee share scheme in the
previous 5 years, may not exceed 15% of the jssued share capltal of the company at the time that
the optians are issued.

The options, which are not listed, are issued free ta employees and entitle the halder to subscribe
for ane fully paid erdinary share in the Company. Shares |ssued pyrsuant to the exarcise of
options will rank equally with ali other ordinary shares of the Company. Options issued under the
Plan are not transferable.

Dlrectors have discretion under the plan to determine the exercise price of each optlan, The
exercise price however may not be [ess than 80% of the average closing sale price of the
Cempany's ordinary shares over the five days preceding the day on which the options are offered
to employees,

The optlons issued under the Plan are subject to various escraw conditions over a periad of three
years. Any options not exarcised within a period of 4 years fram their date of issue wil| lapse.
Options will alse lapse upon the reslgnation or termination of a halder's employment - refer note
18,

c) Superannuatien Commitments
The Company and jts contralled entities contributed 9% of salarles to employees' personal
superannuatien plans. The companies do not maintaln a superannuation scheme on behalf of

thelr employess. There was $36,025 in outstanding llabillties for superannuation corimitments
at 30 Jupe 2003.
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24. Remuneration of Directors

Consolidated Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ $ $
Amounts paid or payahle or atherwise
made available to directors of the company
from the company or any related party 209,674 . 516,503 209,674 516,503

The number of directors of the company
whase Income from the company or any
related party falls within the following bands

No.
$10,000 - 519,999
$20,000 - §29,999
$40,000 - $49,999
$70,000 - $79,999
$180,000- 5189,999
$200,000 - $209,999 -

[ A I ¥ S A |
—|_||N|N§

25. Remuneration of Execurtives
Consoljdated Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ $ 3
Amounts recelved or dye and recelvable
from the company, entities in the
cansolidated entity or related partles by
executive officers of the company and of
controlled entities whose total remuneration
exceads $100,000 (a) 338.065 394,957 173,211 204,279

The number of executives of the consolidated
entlty and the company whose remuneration i
falls within the follewing bands: (b)

$160,000 -~ $169,999 1 - - -
$170,000 - §179,999 1 - 1 1
$190,000 - §199,599 ‘ - 1 - -
$200,000 - $209,999 - 1 - 1

(2) Executive officers are those officers involved in the strateglic directien and general management
of the business at a company or operating level,
(b} Includes executive director of the company also disclosad within "Remuneration of Directors".
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Consolidated Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002
$ $ 3 $
26. Auditors' Remuneration
(a) Amounts recelved or due and receivable by
the Auditors for:
Audlt and review of financial reports 30,000 25,000 30,000 25,000
(b) Amounts recelved or due and recejvabie by
Other Auditors - Arthur Andersen far:
Audit and review of financial reperts - 18,150 - 18,150
Total Audltars' Remuneration 30,000 43,150 30,000 43,150

27. Segment Information
Business Segment

The consolidated entity aperates within ana businass segment, being the telecommunijcations industry,
As a result, disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and ‘notes are representative of this

segment.
Geographic Segment
Consaolldated
2003 2002
5 s
Operating Revenue
- Australla/New Zealand - 1,803,564 2,828,753
Segment Result
- Australia/New Zealand {3,201,120) (4,881,871)
Segment Assets

- Australia/New Zealand 2,054,093 3,285,508
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28. Related Party Disclosures

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

Direcrors;

The persons who held aoffice as a director of Tennyson Networles Limited during the year ended 30
June 2003:

H C Parker ‘ R W Woss .
R W Leightan L A Coleman (resigned 23 September 2002)
E M Barry

Information on the remuneration of directors js set out in Note 24.

Directors' holdings of shares and share optionvs

As at 30 June 2003 directars of Tennyson Networks Limited held In aggregate 43,542,991
ordinary shares of Tennyson Networks Limited, and 2,000,000 options over 2,000,000 ordinary
shares of Tennyson Networlks Limited,

Directors’ transactions in shares and share options

During the year directors of Tennyson Networks Limited acquired in aggregate 1,000,002
ordinary shares in the Company.

Whally-owned group transactiops

Puring the year, the Company advanced §1,870,626 (2002: $4,524,864) to Tennyson
Technaologles Pty Ltd, a controlled entity, to fund that campany's telecommunications operatiens.
The Campany has not charged Tennyson Technolagles Pty Ltd Interest on the loan of $29,995,480
owing at 30 June 2003,

Transactions with directors and director-related entities

Leoans fro jrectors

During the year directors advanced $1,065,740 to Tennyson Networls Limited as unsecured
loans, At balance date $915,740 remains outstanding.

Interest pajd or payable to diractors and director-refatad entities during the year amounted to
$7.417 (2002: $48,941). . :

Other - normal coyrse o j 's length basis

Purchases of goods and services totalling $107,014 (2002: $137,715) were made from a
director-related entity of EM RBarry.

Provisian of accounting, consulting and sacretarial services by a director-re|ated entjty of RW Wass
totalled $798,867 (2002: nil).

t ayapie
At balance date the total amount payahle to directars and director-related antities in relaticn ta

outstanding directors' remuneration, interest payable, subscription fees and the purchase af
goods and services was $253,995 (2002; $76,648).
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28, Related Party Disclosures [continued]

f) Ultimate Parent

Tennyson Networks Limited Is the ultimate Australian parent company.

29. Contingent Liability

In the vear a former executive served the company with a cl2im for alleged breach of cantract. The
company disputes this claim and will pursye a counter clalm agalnst the executive for breach of contract
of employment and fiduciary duties,
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30. Notes to Statement of Cash Flows

a) Reconcilfation of Cash

TENNYSON TECNOLOGY 61 3 95589365

NO. 233

For the purposes of the Sratement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and
deposits at call. Cash at the end of the financial year as shewn in the Statement of Cash Flows is
reconclled to the related items jn the Statement of Financial Positian as follows:

Cansolidated Parent
2003 2002 2003 2002
3 5 5 5
Cash at Bani and on Hand B4,983 383,888 313 260,310
Deposits at call - 149,377 - 149,377
84,993 535,265 313 409,687
b) Recopclllatlon of loss from operating

activities after tax to cash used In
operating actlvities
Loss from Ordinary Activities
After Related Income Tax Expense (3,201,120) (4,881,871) (2,142,794) (5,800,135)
Adjustments for non=-cash Income
and expense items:
Depreclation and amortisation 74,670 89,565 - 2,600
Net loss (profit) on dispasal of

property, plant and equipment {(45) 16,611 - 16,611
Bad debrts writren off - 177,783 - -
Net research and development

costs writen off - 2,045,584 - -
Amaunts set aside o provisions/
{written back):

stock variation 300,000 29,090 - -

audit fees : 5,000 25,000 5,000 25,000

doubtful debts (25,000) (291,957) 1,500,000 5,000,000
Changes in operating assers and [[zh]litles
(Increase) decrease (n receivablas 821,561 (761,744) 4,220 25,675
(Increase) decrease in other current 33,824 (58,498) 33,760 (33,760)

assers
(Increase) decreasea in inventory 758,211 (447,601) - -
(Decrease) increase in payables (177,401) (1,04B,859) 234,806 30,966
Increase (Decrease) in provision for

employee entitlements (20,996) 18,729 - (11,180)
(Decrease) jn other provisjions - (15,000) - (15,000)
Net cash used in
operating activities (1,431,296) (5.102,168) (365,008) (759,223)
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30. Notes to Statement of Cash Flows [continued]

{c)

13:64 TENNYSON TECNOLOGY 61 3 95583965

Acquisition of Business/Controlled Entity

NO. 233

P.35743

On 30 June 2003, Datareach Limited acqujred the net assets of the Data Services busjness

operation from Ericsson Cammunicatons Limited based in New Zealand.

Conslderation Paid

Cash Paid
Cash Deferred

Net Assets acquired:

Other Debtors

Inventories

Property, Plant and Equipmen?
Patent

Trade Creditors and Accruals
Employee Entitlements

Sub-Toral Net Assets (grass)
Discount on Acquisition

Fair Value of Net Assats acquijred

$

848,014
123,533

121,953
805,589
832,614

1,760,157

(25,190
(143,286)

1,591,681
(620,114)

871,867

D e
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21. Financial Instruments
a) Interest Rate Risk Expasure
The following table summarlsas jnterest rate risk for the consolidated entity, together with

effective Interest rates at palance data.
Fixed interest rate

maturing in

Floating 1 year Over Nan~ Total ‘ Average

Interest or less 1to 5 interest interest

Rare (i) years ‘ rate

L3 s $ $ 3 Fixed Floating
2003 % %
Financlal assets
Cash 84,993 - - - 84,993 - 2.0%
Trade Debtors - - - 120,141 120,141 - -
Other debrors - - - 208,953 208,953 -
Prepayments - - - 24,674 24,674 - -
84,993 - - 353,768 438,761
Financlal llabllities
Trade Creditors - - - 592,186 592,186 - -
Other Creditors - - ~ 269,612 269,612 - -
Amounts payahle to
directars and .
directar-related entlties - - - 253,985 253,995 - - -
Line of Credit 56,357 - - - 06,357 - 10.1%
Loans frem directors 915,740 - - 915,740 11.0%
56,357 915,740 - 1,115,793 2,087,890

(i) Floating interest rates represent the most recently determined rate applicable to the
instrument at balance dare.

2002

Financjal assets :

Cash 259471 - - 124,417 383,888 - 2.50%

Deposits 149,377 - - - 149,377 - 4.36%

Trade Debtors - - - B0G,624 806,624 - -

Qther Debtors - - - 208,620 208,620 - -

Prepayments - - - 58,498 58,498 - -
408,848 - - 1,198,159 1,607,007

Financial liabilities

Trade Creditors - - - 768,046 768,048 - -

Other Creditars - - - 299,757 299,757 - -

Amaunts payable to

direc¢tars and ‘

director-related entities - - - 76,648 76,648 - -

1,144,451 1,144,451
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31. Financial Instruments [continued]

b) Net fair value of financlal assers and liabilities

The carrying amount of trade recelvables and trade creditors approximates falr value. The
carrying amount of payables approximates falr value because of their short-term to marurity.

<) Amounts recelvable [n foreign currencies

At year end, a total| of GBP 1,722.60 (2002: GRP 5,443) was owed by trade debtors to the
consalidated entity. The Australian dollar equivalent was 34,674.64. No hedging is in place for
this forelgn currency receivable.

d) Credit Risk Exposure

The consolidated entity's exposure to credlt risk Is indicated by the carrying amount of its flnancial
assets. The major geographic concentration of credit risk arises from Australla,

32. Subsequent Events

On 17 July 2003 the Coampany announced a $10 mjllion capital raising comprising an issue of
8,960,000 shares to private [nvestors at an issue price of 2.5 cents per share, raising 5224,000.
In addition, the Company entered jnto a Subscrlption Agreement with Neoside Pty Ltd. Neoside
has agreed te subscribe for 391,040,000 ordinary shares In the Company at 2.5 cents per
share, subject to the approval of shareholders at a general meeting.

On 8 August 2003 the Company entered Into a Faclllty Agreement with Neoside and may borrow
up to 52 million in total from Neoside up ta the date of the general meeting. The proceeds of the
praposed share issue to Neoside will be used to retire the amount autstanding under this Facility
Agreement, including accrued interest.

On 14 August 2003 the Company entered [nto a loan agreement with a private lender under
which the lender agreed te lean the Company up to a maximum of $250,000 for the purposes of
working capital. Under this loan agreement the Company is required to Issue to the lender
8,333,333 unlisted aptions in the Company exercisable at 3 cents per option with an explry date
being 12 maonths after the date the options are [ssued and is required to seek shareholder
approval for the jssue of thase options, ‘
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

ini the opinlon of che direcrors of Tennyson Networks Limited:

{a) the financial staternents and notes of the company and the consolidated entity are In accordance
with the Corpprations Act 2001, Including:

() giving a true and falr view of the financial posjtion of the company and cansolidated entity
as at 30 June 2003 and of their performance faor the year ended on that dare; and

m complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulatiang 2001; and
{b} there are reasonable grounds 1¢ belieye that the company will be able to pay 15 debis as and
: when they become due and payahle (rafar Naté (),

Signed In aceprdance with 3 resolution of the directars,

A5

H C Parker
Chalrman

Melbpurne
30 Saptember 2003
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E.!I ERNST& Y()UNG M 120 Colllns Streat &Tel 61 39288 6000
Melbpurne VIC 3000 © Fax 61 3 9A54 6166
Australia DX 293 Melbourne
GPO Bax 678

Malbourne VIC 3001

Independent andit report to members of Tennyson Networks Limited

Scope

The financial report and directors’ respansibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial
performance, statement of cash flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the
directors’ declaration for Tennyson Networks Limited (the company) and the consolidated entity,
for the year ended 30 June 2003. The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the
entities it controlled during that year.

The directars of the company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives 3 frue and
fair view of the fipancial position and performance of the comipany and the consolidated entity, and
that complies with Accounting Standards in Australis, in accordance with the Corparations Act
2001, This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal
controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and
accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the
members of the company. Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards in order to provide reasonable assuratice as to whether the financial report is free of
material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of
professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal contro), and the
availability of persuasive rather than conelusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that
all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents
faitly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting
Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial reporting requirernents in Australia, a view
which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consalidated entity’s financial
position, and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

. examining, on a test basis; information to provide ewdence supperting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report, and
. assessing the appropriateness of the accounting palicies and disclosures used and the

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls.

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately
reflected in the financial report, These and our other procedures did not include consideration or
Judgement of the appropriateness or reasonableness of the business plans or strategies adopted by
the directors and management of the company.

Liapility limited by the Accountants Scheme, approyed
ynder the Professionsl Standards Act 1994 (NSW)
7
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Zl] ERNST & YOUNG

Independence

We are independent of the company, and have met the independence requirements of Australian
professipnal ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Aet 2001,

Audit opinion

In aur opinion, the financial report of Tennyson Networks Limited is in accordance with:

(®) the Corporations Act 2001, inclyding:

@ giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Tennyson Networks Limited
and the consolidated entity at 30 June 2003 and of their performance for the year
ended on that date; and

(i) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Carporatians
Regulations 200!1; and

(b)  other mandatary financial reporting requirements in Australia.
Inherent uncertainty regarding continuation 3s a going concern

Without qualification to the opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following matter.
The ability of the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, and therefore its ability to pay
its debts as and when they fall due and realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal
course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report, is dependent on the success of
the proposed capital raising described in notes 1a and 32 to the finaneial statements.

Consequently, there is a significant uncertainty whether the consolidated entity will continue as a
going concern, and the financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts, or to the amounts and classification of
liabilities that might be necessary should the entity not continue as a going concern.

iy \r“(m,vaj

Ernst & Young

Denis Thom
Partner

Melbourne
30 September 2003
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (unaudited)

TRADING PERFORMANCE OF DATAREACH BLUSINESS
for the six month period | January to 30 June 2003

During the financial year ended 30 June 2003 the cansolldated entity entered inte an agreement for the
sale and purchase of the Data Services business of Ericsson New Zealand. This business, subsequently
renamed Datareach, designs, markets and supports a range of high-speed broadband internet
products for internarional markets.

The effective date of acquisition was 1 Japuary 2003 and the acquisition was campleted on 30 Jupe
2003. Under Accoynting Standard AASE 1024 (Cansolidated Accounts) the financial results of acquired
kusinesses and controlled entities are only Included in the consolidated financial statements frem the
date coprrol commenceas, As control of the Datareach business passed to the cansolidated entity on the
30 June 2003, its financjal performance for the six months ended 30 june 2003 has not been Included
in the consalldated financial statermeants,

Accordingly, set aut below js the Trading Performance of the Datareach business, adjusted for
assaciated acquisitlon costs not recognised in the consolidated fipancial statements. .

NZ$000's AS000's
Sales Revenue 8,808 8,018
Less: Cost of Goods sold ' 4,689 4,267
Gross Margin 4,118 3,748
Operational Overhead ' 1,402 1,278
Earnings Before Interest, Tax and 2,717 2,472
Acquisition Costs
Acquisition Costs
Management feas and earn-out 1,502 1,367
Purchase price adjustment - ~ 5SO 501

2,052 1,868

Interest Expense 91 83
Earnings Before tax 574 521
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STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMAT]|ON

Additional informartion required by the Australlan Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this
report is as follows;

The information ts based on infarmation up to 19 September 2003.
Substantial Shareholders

The following information is extracted from the Company's Register of Suhstantial Shareholders.

Name No. of No. of Optlons
Ordlnary Shares - over Shares

Uuro Pty Ltd 17,449,857 -

Mr Ross W Leighton - 13,799,571 ‘ -

Distribution of Shares

) The number and distribution of Shareholders at 19 September 2003 was as fallows:

Size of Holding Number of
Sharehoiders
1 -1,000 178
1,001 -~ 5,000 351
5,001 - 10,000 296
10,001 - 100,000 (1.1
100,001 and over 274
Total number of helders 1,785
Less than a marketabla parcel 902

)] The number and distribution of Optianholders at 19 September 2003 was as fallows;

Size of Holding 1 1,001 5,001 170,001 100,001 Toral
10 to to To and
1,000 5,000 10,000 100,000 over

Explry Date Exercise Price

31 December 2003 $0.11 - - - - 1
30 June 2004 $1.00 - 2 - - 4
30 June 2004 51,05 - 1 - - - 1
12 July 2004 50,10 - - - - 2 2
1 November 2004 $1.00 - - - 3 - 3
27 November 2005 $0.04 - - - 10 3 13
19 March 2006 $0.08 - - - - ] 1
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Twenty Largest Shareholders

The 20 |largest shareholders, who between them hald 39.73% of the Issued capltal of the Company at
19 September 2003, are |[sted as follows:

Name No. of Shares % Held
Uuro Pty Ltd 17,449,857 10.21
Mr Ross William Leighten 13,798,571 8.07
Cutmere Pty Ltd (222 A/<) 4,729,647 2.77
Jaytide Pty Ltd 4,712,121 2.76
Intergen Pty Ltd - 2,744..91 1 1.81
Paradyn Holdings Pty Ltd ' 2,620,672 1.47
Classic Roofing Pty Ltd 2,280,000 1.33
Jagen Pry Lid 2,048,782 1.20
Mr Murray Richard Poyle 2,000,000 17
Supnyview Achjevemnents Py Ltd 2,000,000 1.17
Barry Family Investments Pty Ltd 1,984,848 1.18
Nefco Nominees Pty Lrd ‘ 1,800,000 i 1.05
Elltom Pry Ltd ‘ 1,666,667 0,98
The House of Pare Pty Ltd 1,450,000 0.85
Mr Gervasio Da Pra and Mrs Elsa Da Pra 1,259,453 0.74
Mr Kerry Raymond Wark and Mrs Susanne Mary Warl 1,180,423 0.69
Abercrombie Investments Pty Ltd 1,173,500 0.69
Oxley Sparts Drome Carparation Pty Ltd 1,075,758 0.62
Intercorp Pty Ltd v 1,006,000 0.59
Bellmar Holdings Pty Ltd 1,600,000 0.59

Voting Rights

All ordinary shares are entitled 1o one vote per share in accardance with the Campany's Memorandum
and Artlcles of Association.
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TENNYS IN—

NETWORKS LIMITED G:—}g_fr;,,?
SR ?: 2;
September 30, 2003 By Facsimile
00151 202 942 9624
49 pages

Securities and Exchange Commission
Division of Corporation Finance

~ Office of International Corporation Finance
450 Fifth Street, N.-W.
Washington, D.C. 20549
USA

Dear Sir/Madam
Re: Tennyson Networks Limited - File # 82-5138

We are furnishing herewith pursuant o Rule 12g3-2(b)(1)(1) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") the following additional documents that
the Tennyson Networks Limited (the "Company") has made public, distributed or filed
with the Australian Stock Exchange Limited (the "ASX") or the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission (the "ASIC") since 13 December 2000, the date of its
application for an exemption from Rule 12g3-2(b) of the Secuiities Exchange Act:

L. Announcement to ASX re: Notice of General Meeting

The attached documents are being fumnished with the understanding that they will not be
deemed "filed" with the Securities and Exchange Commission or otherwise subject to the
liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and that neither this letter nor the furnishing
of such documents shall constitute an admission for any purpose that the Company is
subject to the Exchange Act.

If you have any questions or comments, please call the undersigned at +61 3 8558 0424,
Yours sincerely

R.A. PULLIA

Company Secretary

Enclosure

TENNYSON NETWORKS LIMITED A,C,N. 009 805 298
14 BUSINESS PARK DRIVE, NOTTING HBTLL, VIC, 3168, AUSTRALTA,
TEL +61-3- 8558 0424 FAX +61-1- B3S8 D484
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TENNYSON-

N ETWORKS LIMITED

ACN 007 BOS 298

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

A General Meeting of the Sharsholders of Tennyson Netwerks Lid will ke held at
14 Business Park Crive, Notting Hlli, Victoria at 11,00am,
on Friday 31 Octoher 2003.

Also anclosed is an Explanatery Memorandum which has been prepared o assist
Sharshelders in determining whathar or not to vole In faveur of the resclitions sst out
in the Nolice of Mealing and Is Intended fo be read in conjunction with the
Nelice of Meeting,

P.2749
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1 CONTENTS
Nptles of Mesting

Explanatery Memorandum
Intraduction

Qvarvisy aof Neoside Transachion
Dehails of Neoside Transaction
Further Information

Glossary

kLN

Schadyle 1 to Explanatory Memerandum ~ independent Expert's Report

Schedule 2 to Explanatory Memorandum — Capital Structure

2 CORPORATE PIRECTORY

Directars Registered Office

Mr Harvey Parker (Chairman) 14 RBusinsss Park Drlve,

Mr Ross Leighton NOTTING HIlLL, ‘

Mr Ed Barry VICTORIA, AUSTRALIA, 3168

Mr Gaaffrey Rubython Telephene: +613 8558 Q400

Mr John Flatcher Fgesimile: +613 A558 0484

Company Secrelary Share Registry

Mr Rick Pullia (Acting CEO, CFO} Computershare Investar Sérvices Pty Limited, Lavel 2,

Rasarva Bank Rullding, 45 St George's Terrace, Perth,
Australia, 6000

3 ACTION REQUIRED BY SHAREHOLDERS

Step 1 : Read the Notice of Mesting, the Explunatmy'Mnmnrundum unH the Independent Experts
Report. The Explanatery Memorandum and [ndapendent Expert's Report set aut defails of the raselutions Including
the proposal for Neaside Ply lid to becoma q ma|or Shareholder in the Company. This informatian Is Important.

Step 2 : Vofe on the resalutions: Your vole is important. You may cast your vate by:

¢ Attending and vafing at the mesting te ba held at 14 Business Park Drive, Nolfing Hill, Victorig an Friday 31
Octaber 2003 cammencing at 17.00am; or

*  Completing and returning the enclosed proxy form se as to be recelved by tha Company by 11.00am on 29
Octobar 2003,

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING 2




30.SEP.2003 19:28 TENNYSON TECNOLOGY 61 3 35589365 ‘ NO. 234 P.4-49

TENNYSON

NRTWORAKS LIMITIEID

26 September 2003

Dear Sharsholder

Accompanying this letter ara dacuments regarding a general meeting of shareholders te be held on 31 Ocfober
2003, Tepnyson |s sesking approval from its sharehalders for the jssue of 397,040,000 shares fo Naoside Ply Lid
[ACN 007 442 579) (Necsidel, raising $9,776,000,

The funds ta bs raised under the proposed placement to Neoside are necessary for tha follawing warking capital
raquirements: .

* o fupd the data services businass of Dalareach Limited aperating in New Zealand, following ifs acquisition by
Tennyzon an 30 June 2003;

* o fund the SOX business af Tennyson Technologies Pty Lid, including q new siralegy lo upgrade cora technel
ogy, expand the SOX product range and implemant marketing ond salss [nitiatives to expand dlstributian In the
Australian and oversegs markats; -

¢ Ic fund expscted requiremants for new staff, new stack and new equipment in ihe SOX business; and

* o fund the heod office management and coordination costs arising from Tennysen's expanded acfivities.

To meet the Company's interim working capital requirements Tennyson hgs borrewad, at the date of this latter, o tatal
of $45,000 from Neoside under a loan facility agresment sntered into on B August 2003 and may barrow up fo
$2 million in tatal from Neaside up to the dats of the general meeting, The praceeds of the proposed share issve fo
Neasjde will be used to refira the amount eylstanding wnder this focility agresment, ineluding acerued inferest. This
interim loan Is repayable within 90 business days if sharsholder appraval is not abrained and the share issue does
not procead.

The funds ta be raised under the placement to Neaside are crifical fo the ongoing operations of Tennysan's businass.
Witheut these funds, Tennyson would require urgent funding fram an alternative saurge, Should alfernative funding
nat be immediately available, the directars of Tennysen would need ie consider whether Tennyson should be placed
info voluntary rdministration.

As Geoffrey Rubython and Jahn Fletcher are dirsctars of Neaside and are therefore direcily gssociated with the pro-
pasal, they do not consider It gpprepriate fo provide a recammendaticoh lo sharahalders with respact ro resolutien 1.
The other members of your board censider that they are sufficiently independent to make a recommendation fo share-
helders and are unanimously of the view thar the placement fo Naasida is In tha bast Injerasts of the Company and
racommeand that you vate in favour of resolution 1. Full detalls of the directors’ recormmendations and their reasons
are outllned in section 2,3 of the Explanatery Memerandum,

PricewaterhousaCoopers Securities Limitad has nompletad an Independent Exper}'s Report for shareholdars, as sat out
in Sehedule 1 to the Explanatery Memorandum, and goncluded that the praposed placement of shares ts Neaside is
fair and reasonahble fo pon-aszociated chareholders.

Separats tq the above preposal, Tennysan is alss sesking approval far

*  the ratification of the jssue of 8,760,000 ordinary shares fo investors that eceurrad on 17 July 2008 and raised
$224,000 for angoing working capital needs;

*  the ratification of the issue of 13,333,333 ordinary shares fe investars thal ogewrred on 1 April 2003 and ralsed
$400,000 fo repay autstanding convertible notes;

» the change in company name to FUSIA Limited; and .

» the issue to Vagg Investment Manogement Services Ply [td [ACN 002 184 278} (Vagg Investment] of
8,333,333 Opfions In the Company with an exercjse prica of $0.03 per Option, and the issue of ordinary
shares on the exercise of thasa Opfions.

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING 3




39.S5EP.2093 13:29 TENNYSON TECNOLOGY 61 3 95583365 , NG. 234 P.S-49

TENNYSON——————————————————

NETWARKS LIm|THD

Tennyson Is in the process of undergaing significant change, both in ifs propased awnership structure and the scope
of its product offerings. It has acquired additional tachnalogy and preduels thraugh the Dataraach acquisition and
has plans to further develop the SOX product range. As a result, the diractars consider it appropriate to adopt FUSIA
Limited as its new name in order ta raflect the Company’s new profile and potential.

On 14 August 2003 the Company entered into o logn agreement with Yagg Investment under which Vagg Investmant
agreed to loan the Company up o @ maximum of $250,000 for the purpases of warking copitgl. Under this loan
agreement the Company is required to [ssue tn Yagg Investment 8,333,333 unlisted Options in the Company exercis-
abla at $0.03 per Option with an expiry date being 12 months after the date the Options are issued and Is raquirad
to seek shareholder approval far the issue of thase Qptions,

Your baard racommends thal sharehelders ralify the previous issues of shares, apprave the change of the company’s
nams to FUSIA limiled and approve the issue of Oplions by voting in faveur of resalufions 2, 3, 4 and 3.

To understand the hul| delqils of the resolufians, we encouraga you to read the attached documentation with care
and altend the Genaral Mesting 1a ba held ot 14 Business Park Drive, Notiing Hill, Yictoria at 17.00am en Friday
31 Octohsr 2003,

Yours faithfully,

Harvey Porker
Chairman
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38.SEP.28B3 19:29 TENNYSON TECNOLOGY 61 3 95583365 NO. 234 P.6-49

NETWORKS LI M]ITED

ACN 0G? 805 298

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

Notica is hereby given that a General Meeting of the Shareholders of Tennyson Networks Limited [Company)
will be held at 14 Business Park Drive, Natting Hill, Victoria at 11.00am, on Friday 31 October 2003.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

Resolution 1: Appraval of Placement of Shares to Neesids Pty Ltd

To consider and, if thought fit, ta poss the fallowing resolution as an erdinary resolution:
“THAT the issvs and olletment of 391,040,000 ordinary shares in the capital of the Company e Neoside Pry Lid
[ACN 007 442 579} for a consideration of §7,776,000 {representing 2.5 cenfs per share}, be and is hereby
appraved for all purposes including:
(a} ilem 7 of saction 611 of tha Corporgtions Act;
(b} rule 10.171 of the Lisiing Rplas; and
{e) Chapter 2E of the Carparalions Act.”

Voling exclusion statemen)
In relation to resolution 1, pursuant e Listing Rule 10.73.6 and sectians 224 and 611 item 7 of the Corporations
Act, the Company will disregard any yotes cast by or on bshalf of Nasoside Pty Ltd [ACN 007 442 579] and
any person who might obtain a bensfit, except a banefit solsly in the capagity of a heldar of ardinary securitiss,
if the rasolution is passed, and their associatss, The Company, howevar, need not disragard o vole east by any
person othsr than Naoside Ply Ltd and its associates If:
It is cast by a person as proxy for a psrson who is enlifled to vafe, in gccordance with the directions in the
proxy form: or
* it is cast by the chajrperson of the meeting as proxy for a person who is sentifled to yole, in eccordance with
a direction on the proxy farm fo vole as the proxy decides.

Resolutian 2: Raotification of Pravious Placemsni of Shares

To consider and, if thought fit, o pass the following resolulion as an ordinary reselution:
“THAT the previous jssue and qllatment of 8,960,000 crdinery shares in the capital of the Company for q
cansidaration of $224,000 (reprasenting 2.5 cents per share) paid in cash on 17 July 2003, be and is hereby
ratifiad for tha purpases of Listing Rule 7.4.”

Vorting exclusion statemen :

In relation to resolution 2, pursuant to Listing Ruls 7.5.6, the Compary will disregard any votes cast by or on

behalf of the investors listed in section 4.2 of the Explangtory Memarandum and their associates. The Cempany,

however, need not disregard a vole if:

* it is cast by o person gs proxy for a person who is entifled fo vore, in accordance with the dirsctions in the
proxy form; or

* it is cast by tha chairpersen of the mesting as proxy for a person wha is entitled fo vate, in accordance with
a diraction on the praxy form fo vele as the proxy decidss.

Recolution 3: Ratification of Previous Placement of Shares

To cansider and, if thought fil, fo pass the fellewing reselution as an ordinary resolution:
“THAT the previous jssus and allotment of 13,333,333 ordinary shares in the capifal of the Company fer a
consideration of $400,000 (rapresenting 3 <enfs per share) paid In cosh on 1 April 2003, be and is hereby
ratified for the purposes of Listing Rule 7.4.”

Voling exclusion stqtsment
In ralation to resolufion 3, pursuant to Llsnng Rule 7.5.6, the Company will disregard ary voies cast by or on
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behalf of the investers listed in section 4.3 of the Explanatory Memorandum and their associgtes, Tha Company,

howavsr, nead not disregard g yote if:

* tis cast by q person as proxy far a person who is eniitled fo yote, in accordance with the directions in the
proxy form; or

® it is cast by the chairperson of the mesting as prexy for a persen who is enfifled fo vote, in accordance with
a dirscfion on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides,

Resclution 4: Change of Company Name

To cansider and, if thought fit, fo pass the following resalution as a special resclution:
“THAT, subject to qnd condilional an reselution 1 being passed, for the purpases of the saction 157(1) of the
Corporations Act, approvel is given ta change the name of the Company from Tennysen Networks Limited te
FUSIA Limited.” '

Resolution 5: Issuas of Opficns

To consider and, if thought fit, fo pass the fellewing resolution as an ordingry reselution: ‘
“That for the purpases of Listing Ruls 7.1, the Company approves the isaue to Vagg Invesiment Management
Services Ply Lid {ACN 002 184 278 of 8,333,333 options in the Campany with an exercise price of $Q.03
per oplion on the terms and conditions set out In tha Fxplgnatery Memarandum, and the issue of ordinary sharas
en the axercise of thase aplions,”

Voting exclusion sraternent

In relation to resalution 5, pursuant ia Listing Rule 7.3,8, the Company will disregard any yofes cast by or en

bahalf of Vagg Investment Management Servicas Ply Lid (ACN 002 184 278) and any parsan who might obtain

a benefil, except a bensfit solely in the capacity of o holder of erdinary secwrities, if the resclution is passed, or

their associates. The Company hawever need not disregard a vote if:

. ® |tis cast by q person as proxy for a person who is antitled o vata, in accordgnes with the directions on the

proxy form, or

* jtis cast by the chairperson of the meeling as proxy for a persen whe is entilled to vota, in accordance with
@ direclion on the proxy form to vote as the proxy dscides.

Explanatory Memorandum
Sharehelders are referred o the Explanatery Memerandum accompanying and forming part of this Notice of
Meeting.

Enfitlement fo vots

The Beard has determined that for the purposes af the meeling, shares will be taken to he held by tha parsans who
qre the registered heldars gt 11.00am on 29 Qclpber 2003. Accordingly, share transfers registered after that fime
will be disregarded in determining enfitlements to attend and vote at the meefing.

Proxies

A proxy form accompanies this Notice and fo be effactive muet he recsived not less than 48 hours before the time for
holding the meeting ak '

* 14 Busipess Park Drive, Neiting Hill, Victaria 3168! or

*  [ax number: [03) 8558 0484,

Each shareholder is entitled fo appaint o prexy. The proxy does not need to be @ member of the Company, A
shareholder that Is entitled ta cast 2 or more votes may appeint 2 proxies and may spacify the proportien or number
of vates that each proxy is appointed lo exercise, Whara d propartian is not specified, each prexy shall be entitled fo
vate half of the sharehslder's voling rights. '

By order of the Baard

Rick A. Pullia
Company Secretary
26 September 20023
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EXPLANATORY MEMORANDLIM
TO THE NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING
TO BE HELD ON FRIDAY 371 OCTOBER 2003 AT 11 .OOAM

This Explangtory Memorandum hos been prepared to assist Sharshelders of Tennysen Networks
Limited in undsrstanding the detalls and effacts of the resolutions to he put to Shareholders fer their
conslderation and, if thought fit. approval at the farthcoming General Meeling of the Company. The
Directors recommend that you read this Explanatery Memerandum.

1 INTRODUCTION

On 17 July 2003, Tennysan announced that It had entered into an Agresment to raise $2,776,000 thraugh the issue
of 397,040,000 Shares o Neoside.

Shareholder approval is heing sought for the issue of the 391,040,000 Shares,

Delails regarding Neoside and ils associates are set out In section 3.2. Datalls regarding the proposed use of the

funds to be raised under the Share placement are sat oyt in sectlan 2,7.

Separale to the above propasal, Tennyson Is also seeking approval for the;

* rafification of the Tssus of 8,960,000 Shares to investars on 17 July 2003 and of the issue of 13,333,333
Shores te investors on 1 April 2003

e change in company name to FUSIA Limlted; and

¢ jssue of 8,333,333 Options to Vagg [nvestment.

Details regarding the previous Share placements, the change of name and the preposed Optian issue are set out In

seclions 4,2, 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5.

The purpase of this Explanatory Memarandum Is to provide Informalion to explain these resolutions and te gssist
Sharehalders in determining how to vate,

Capltalised tarms used in the Explanatory Memorandum are defined in the Glossary in seclion 5,

Sactions 2 ond 3 address the propased issue of shares to Neoside pursuant ta resolutien 1. Section 4 provides
additianal information regarding cll of the propased resolutions.

2 OVERVIEW OF NEOSIDE TRANSACTION
2.1 OVERVIEW

On 17 July 2003, Tennysen anpneunced that it has entered inte an Agreemsnt under which Tennyson will issue
391,040,000 Shares to Neaside at an issve price of 2.5 cents g Share, The Agreement is subject fo all relevant
Shareholdar appravals baing ohlained and Ed Barry, Ross Leightan and Harvey Parker remaining directors
of Tenpyson unlil the date of issue of the new Shares. Simulianeously with the Agreement being entered into,
Geoffray Rubython and John Flefcher were appointed as Directors.

On 8 August 2003, Neaside entered into a facility agreemsnt with Tennysen to praylde up to $2,000,000 in
loan funds. At the date of this Explanafory Memorandum, a fokal of $45,000 had been drawn down under
the Mallity agreament. |t is anticipated that the facility agreement will be fully drawn dewn in the ameunt of
$2,000,000 at the date of the General Meeting. The cansideration payable by Necside for the placement of
the 391,040,000 Shares of §9,776,000 wil| be affsat by the amaunt of the lean drown down at the date of the
Ganerq| Meeting. Detgils of the materlal tarms of the facility agreement are set out in section 3.1,

After the issue is compleled Nsaside will hold approximately 69.6% of the increased issued Shares of

Tennyson. Further details of the share capltal folloawing the issue are set out in Schadule 2 to this Explanatory
Memargndurmn,

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING 7




38.5EP.2083 19:3d TENNYSON TECNOLOGY 61 3 95583365 NO.234 P.9-49

“-FTENNYSON-

NETWORKE LIMmITAP

The $9.776,0Q0 ta be raised under the praposed placemsnt to Neasida and the $224,000 roised under the
fssve of B, 960 000 Shares on 17 July 2003 are necsssary for tha following werking capifal requirements:

*» to fund the dala sarvices business of Datarpach Limited operating in New Zealand, fallowing ifs acquisitian
by Tennyson on 30 June 2003;

* 1o fund the SOX business of Tennyson Technolegies Ply Lid, Including & new sirategy to upgrade cere
techrialogy, expand the $SOX's product range and implement murlzaﬂng and sales injtlatives to expand
distribution in the Ausiralian and pverseas markels;

* to fund expectad raquiraments far new staff, new stock and new equipment in the SOX business; and

¢ o fund the head office management and cp-ardinafion costs arising from Tennysan’s expandad achvitias,

The new funds will allow management fo stimulate Tennyson's business divisiona by:

« accelerating the international growth of the Datareach business, which has a range of products that are
ideally suited to fake advanlage of the rapid global uptake of broadband internet facilities;

» dllowing Tepnysan lo retaln and re-energise its SOX business by redeveloping its core technology as well
as iptroducing complemeniary technologies and expertise. The SOX product range will be sxpanded and
markating salas intiatves will be implemented o expand Tennyson's disfribution in the Australlan and avarseas
markats to mest growing demand far Yoice-pverinternet Protacal (VelP) and infrastructure technalogles: and

» leveraging the complementary Datareach and SOX technolagiss to develop patential new products,

The following is Ihe infended bregkdpwn for the use of funds te ba raised undesr the Necside transaclion and
from the 17 July 2003 plasement:

Datarsach Business

Working Capital for preduct develapmant, aparatians and marksting $2,500,000
SOX Business
Working Capital far preduct development, operations and markefing $5,500,000

Repaymsnt of Berrowings
Repayment of autstanding ameunts undar Neoside facility agreement {expecied
to be fully drawn as at date of mesting) $2,000,000

Total Use of Funds . $10,000,000

2.2 DIRECTCRS’ INTERESTS

Datails of the Pirectors’ Shareholdings and other interssts at the dafe of this Netice of Meeting aroe sat out bajow.

Director Interests Held

Geolffrey Rubythen Pirector and sharehelder of Neaside. Pursuant ks the Agreement,
Neoside has agreed to subscriba for 391,040,000 Shares.

Iohn Fleicher Director and sharshaldsr of Neaside. Pursuant to the Agreement,
Neaside has agreed o subseribe for 391,040,000 Shares.

Harvay Parker Beneficial inferest in:

* 866,947 Shares; and
= 2,000,000 unlisted options, explring 31 December 2002 and
exercisahie at $0.11 per option.

Rass Laighten ' Beneficial interest in 18,511,492 Shares.
Ed Barry Beneficial Inferest in 1,984,948 Shares.

Further details of the shareheldings of both Gecffrey Rubythen and John Flgicher in Neoside and othar Interests
they or thelr assacigtes hald in sither Tennyson ar Neaside are set out In more detall in section 3.2.
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Haryey Parker, Ross [elghton and Ed Rarry have provided funds te the Coempany under laan agreements and
thess funds are due and repayable on 30 September 2004. It is apficipated that these loans will be repaid by
tha Company before the General Meeting from amounts drawn down under Neosids facility agresment, IF thase
loans have not been repaid before the date of the Ganaral Meeting It |s anticipated that these loans will be
repaid frem the funds received under tha Agreement.

2.3 DIRECTORS' RECOMMENDATION '

As Geoffray Rubythen and John Flatcher are directars of Neosids and therefore have an inferest in the outcome
of resolution 1, they de not consider it apprapriale to pravide a recammendation lo Shareholders regarding that
resclulion. .

Notwlthstanding their intarests in respect of outstanding lagns described in secfien 2.2 above, eqch of the
other Plrectors consider thaf they are sufficiently independent ta make g recommendation ta Sharsholders and
recemmend that Shareholders vole in favaur of rasolution 1 for the fellowing reqsans:

* the funds to be abhinad under the Neoside transaction are impartant for the expension and development
of the Dabarsach and Tennysan Technologies (SOX) businass divisions, as oullined in section 2.1 of the
Explanatery Memorandum;

« the Necside fransorlien allows Tennyson to salisfy ils repayment obligations under the Neoside facility
agreement; and

¢ Neoside Is previding Tennyson with funding at a crilical fime, and in circumstances where, despite their extensive
offarts, the Directors have been unable fo secure equivalent levels of funding from allernative sources,

The potentia| consaquences of the Neos|ds transmetion net pracesding are set out In section 2.5. The Directors
recommend that Shareholders carefully consider these implications.

2.4 INDEPENDENT EXPERT'S ORINICON

The Company appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Securifies Lid to proyide Shareholders with an Indepandent
Expert's Report on whether the issue of Sharss to Neoslds |s fair and ragsonable ts Shareholders whe are neot
assocjated with Neos|da, The conclusions of the Independent Expert are that the proposed issue of shares to
Neaside Py Ltd is foir and remsonable to the sharsholders of Tennyson qnd that the benefits of the proposal
outweigh the disadyantages.

2.5 [MPLICATIONS IF SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL IS NOT QBTAINED
If Shareholder appraval is nof chivined, then:

* it will be sssential for Tennyson fo secure yrpent funding fram an alternative source in order to raise the
working capital required to support the trading activifies of bath the Datareach and Tennysan Technologies
[SOX) businesses;

* Tennyson would ajsa be requirad fo soutcs funds to repay the amounts auisianding under the Neaside facility
agreement [heing $45,000 ot the date of this Explanatery Memorandum hut Js anficipated to be the fully
drawn down amaunt of $2,000,000 at the data of tha Ganeral Meeting] within 90 business days of the
Ganeral Meeting;

* the delay caused by requiring Diractors to seek funds from allernativa saurees will jeapardiss the Directors’
proposal fo rebuild the Tepnysan businesses and implement their growth strategiss:

= if funding is not Immediately available, the Direstors expect that the SOX businass would nesd to ba closed
and the acfivities of the Datareach business would need to ke eurtmiled until it built up sufficient working
capital to suppart its International marketing and new preduct development ambitians;

= the Directors expact that the debt pesiticn af Tenpysen, should Sharshelder approval not be obained,
would require them to put Tennyson info valuptary administration unless alternative funding sources were
Immediglely availgble.
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2.6 IMPORTANT DATES

Event Date

Annocuncement of capital raising 17 luly 2003

Dispateh of meating documents to Shareholders 30 September 2003

Last date for receipt of proxies 11.00am 29 October 2003
Mesting of Sharehalders 11,00am 31 October 2003

This section is an overview anly. Shareholdars are urged o read the entire Explanatory Memorandum and ifs
Schedules.

3 DETAILS OF NEOSIDE TRANSACTION
3.1 KEY PROVIS|ONS

The affact of the proposed Share issue is that Neaside will pay a subscrintion amount of §9,774,000Q for the
lssua to it of 391,040,000 Shares af an jssve price of 2.5 conts par Share.

Neoside has entsred into a loan faeility agresment with Tennyson fo pravide up fo $2,000,000 in funds to
suppor Tennyson's working capital requirements. As at the date of this Explanatery Memerandum, $45,000 had
been drawn down under the facility agreement. Ir Is anticipaled that the facility agreement will be fully drawn
down in the amount of $2,000,000 at the date of the General Mesfing. Interest accrues on the autstanding
amaunt at tha rate of 10,75% per annum. Interest acarued is payable on the date of repayment of the autstanding
principal. The oculstanding ameunt of the lcan at the date of the General Meeting plus aceruad interest will be
offsel against the cansideration payable by Neoside far tho proposed Shara lssue,

IF Sharehelder approval is nat obtoined for the issue of Shares lo Neoside, Tennysan must repay the oulstonding
ameunt and acerued inlerest to Nesside within 30 days of the Gensral Meeting.

3.2 DETAILS REGARDING NEQOSIDE

Nesside is g private company based in Vigorla which ¢commenced trading in 2003. Its business fecus is to
identify and fund high growth investment opportunities in the Asian and Qeeanic reglons. Neaside seeks to
bring managsment expertise and investor capital fo existing businesses in developed countries and assist thase
businesses in expansien and developing appartunities in the major expart markets in Europe, North America,
Asia and Oceania,

Mir John Fleteher and Mr Gaoffray Rubythan are the current directors of Neoside,

Current shareholders of Neoside

At the date of this Explanatory Memorandum, Neeside is ownad by the fallowing enfities: ,

{a) 58,656,000 ordinary shares (23.1%) held by Funds Management Ply Lid, q family company controlled b
Mr John Flolcher:

(b) 195,520,000 ordinary shares (76.9%) held by Highpoint Development Holdings Limited, o compony
Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and bassd in Heng Keng. Highpoint Development Heldings Limifed
is directly owned 30% by Mr John Flelcher and 70% by Mr Ben lau, o resident of Hong Keng and
prefessional investor with interests in Hong Kong and Australia;

{c} 1 ordinary shara held by Mr John Flstcher; and

{d) 1 ordinary share held by Mr Geoffrey Rubython,

If Sharehalders approve resclution 1, thesa parties will still be the shareholders of Neaside at the time that
Neoside subscribes for the 391,040,000 Shares.
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Propesals regarding Neoside sharsholdings

Fellowing the subscripfion by Neoside for the 391,040,000 Shares, it is intanded thal new shares in Neaside
will be lssuad to Mr Gecfitey Rubython and other individuals whe are expected ta [oIn the management of
Tannysen In yarious pasitions with the approval and recammendation of Nenside (the “Management Team®).
Tennyson is advised that should sharehelder approval ba obtalned for the subscriplion of Shares by Neoside,
shortly affer that appraval is oblained 49,800,540 shares in Nesside will be issued to Mr Rubython. The shares
will ke issued to Mr Rubythanp pursuant fo a sharshelders agrsement containing the following material terms:

* Following their issue ta Mr Rubython the Neaside shares will be hald in escrow, vesting on the following

basis:
Timeframe Vesting of Shares
Within 2 years of lssua date Nil
After 2 years of issua data 10%
Affer 3 years of issue dafe 100%

¢ If Mr Rubython leaves the employ of Tennysen befora the Neoside shares are vestad as outlined abeve, the
balanca of Neoside shares issued te him will be forfeited and distributed amengst remaining members of the
Management Team or allocated fo a new Management Team member racrulted to reploce Mr Rubython.

* If Mr Rubythan Js unable to participate in the day te day running of the Tennysen business due fo illness, Mr
Rubython's enfitlement fo Neaside shares that have nat vested may be raduced — this reduction will be agreed
at the time either betwaen Neoside and Mr Rubython or by an exfernal mediator.

* The shares In Neoside will be subject o preempfive right provisions contained in Neoside’s constitution and an
no account will shares in Neoside be sold, fransferred or olherwise disposed fo unappraved third parties,

The constitufion of Neoside confains preemptive right provisions, under which any sharehelder of Neeside
infending te fransfer his or her Neoside shares must slther abtaln the prlor consent of all other Neoside sharehalders
or advise directors of Neoside who will then offer thase shares In priorily to the other Neoside shareholders.

Tennyson s advised that 67,063,380 shares in Neoside have been dllocated for issue fo the Management Team.

Neoside has advised Tennyson that the indlviduals who will make up the Manogement Team hava not
been finclised = at the dafe of this Explanatery Memorandum, Mr Phillip Marshall was the only individual
wha had bean identified as an intended member of the Manogemant Team. Individuals whe constitute the
Management Team may chenge as pecple join ar laave Tennyson management. As and when individuals join
tha Management Team and are issued with Neoaside sharas, those Management Team members will enter Into
shareholder agresments on similar terms to the sheareholder agreement between Necside and Mr Rubython, as
outlined above.

Other than these proposed shareholdors agresments, Tennyson is advised that there will be no other association
ar arrangements between the Neoside shareholders with respect to the voting of thair shares er the control of
Neoside ~ each shareholder of Neoside will be free to exercise his/har own cholee and tights in respect of
shares held.

FollowIng the proposed issue of tha Neoslde shares fo Mr Rubython and the Management Team, Necside will
be owned by the fallowing antifles:

(e} 58,656,000 ordinary shoras {15%) held by Funds Management Phy Lid;

() 195,520,000 ordinary shares (50%] held by Highpalnt Pevelopment Heldings Limited;

{g} 1 ordinary share held by Mr John Fletcher;

{h) 69,800,641 ordinary shares {17.9%) hald by Mr Geolfrey Rubython; and

li} 67,063,360 ordinary shares [17.1%)} held by membars of the Mapagement Team = the exact disiribution

of these shares amongst the Management Team will be determined at a later date.
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Relevant Intsrests

Due to the inferests held {or to be held) in Neoside which ore described gbove and fhe associgtions ameng
those parties through shareholders agreements ar otherwise, fthe following Individucls and entities, and their
assaciotes, will or may hold a relevant jnfarest in the 391,040,000 Shares o be jssued to Nsoside:

Neoside Mr John Fletcher

Highpeint Developmenl; Holdings Limited Mr Geoffrey. Rubython

Funds Management Ply Ud Mr Phillip Marshall

Mr Ben lau Other Management Team members

3.3 ARRANGEMENTS WITH NEOSIDE

If Sharehalders approve resalution 1, f§|l0wlng the complslion of the Shors placement under the Agreement,
Neoside will hold approximately 9.6% of the expanded share capital of Tennysan.

Naaside Is also an ungacured creditor of Tennyson under the facility agreement referred io in section 3.7,
Neoside will continue fo be an unsecured creditor of the Company uniil such fime as elther the Share placement
is completed or the outstanding amounts under the faetlity agreament are repald.

Geaffrey Rubython and Jehn Flefcher were oppointed as Directors of Tennysen on 16 July 2003,

Mr Fletcher is g cofounder af Neaslde and a principal of John Flelcher & Assaciales, a charfered accounting
firm ha astablished in 1988 speciciising in small business qnd investment. Previausly he was with @ major
intarnotlanal aceounting firm and worked in Europe and Asia where he established a network of high wealth
cllents,

Mr Rubython is a cofounder of Neoside and previously he consulted industry participants on sirategles o
improve efficiencies in building infrastructure tachnologies. Mr Rubythan praviously cofounded ond was
managing director of Infegrated Equities Ply Ltd, an Investment campany. He founded Robegom Australasia
Pty Ltd, which pianeerad micracomputar CAD/CAM systems in Australio during the 1980s. He also gained
infernational and varled experjonce as o divlsional manager with Agfa, the Eurcpean phatagraphic industry
graup, Mr Rubython has been aclive on business representative bodies and has served as chaltman on various
advisary committees.

3.4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Tennyson’s eurrant Trading Performance, Cashflaw Poslfion and Financial Pasition are deseribed in paragraphs
29, 32 and 37 respeclively af the Independent Expert's Report set aut in Schedule 1, The financlal implications
of the propesed issue are also deserlbed in paragraphs 54 and 57 of the Independent Expert's Report.

The directors recommand that shareholders earelully read the Independent Expert‘s Report set out in Schedule 1

in order to properly assess the financial implications of the propased Issus for Tannyson,

3.5 |MPACT ON CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
The issue of 391,040,000 Shares to Neaside will increase the number of ordinary Shares Tennysen has on issue
from 170,924,958 to 561 P66,958.

On the basis that there are ne other changes fo the haldings of the other tap Shareholders, the list of top 20
Sharehalders as at 29 August 2003 subsequent 1o the (ssus will be as follows:
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Nama Number of % of Voling
. 1 Shares Held Sharos Hald

Neoside Ply tid 391,040,000 69.58
Uura Pry Lid 17,445,857 an
Mr Ross William Leighton 13,799,571 2.46
Cutmere Py Lid <The 222 A/C> 4,729,647 0.84
Jaytids Ply Lid B 4,712,121 0.84
Intsrgen Pty itd 2,744911 0.49
Paradyn Heldings Pty Lid 2,820,672 0.45
Classie Roofing Pty Ltd 2,280,000 0.41
Jagan Pty Lid 2,048,182 0.36
Mr Murray Richard Deyle 2,000,000 0.36
Sunnyview Achievements Ply Lid 2,000,000 0.36
Borry Family Investments Pty Lid 1,984,848 0.35
Nefco Nominses Pty Lid 1,769,160 0.3)
Mr Jason Alfred Veals 1,758,750 0:31
Elltom Pty Lid <Ungar Family Fund A/C> 1,666,667 0.30
The House of Dare Pty Lid 1,450,000 0.2¢
Mr Gervasio Pa Pra & Mrs Elsa Da Pra 1,259,453 0.22
Mr Kerry Raymond Wark & Mrs Susanne Mary Wark 1,180,423 0.21
Abercrombie Invesiments Ply Lid 1,173,500 0.21
Oxjey Sparts Peme Corperation Ply Ld 1,475,758 0,19

Further detail of the Company's cqpital structure is contained within Schedule 2 ta this Explanatery
Memorandum.

4 FURTHER INFORMATION

Further information on each resalufion js sat aut balow. The Corperations Act, ASIC Palicy Statement 74 (in relafion
fo resolytion 1} and the Listing Rules require csrtain informatien to be provided to Shareholders when seeking the
necessary approvals fer each of the resolutians. To the extent that the information required is not describad elsewhars
in this Explanatory Memorandum, [t Is set out below in sections 4.1 ta 4.4.

4.1 RESOLUTION 1 — APPROVAL OF PLACEMENT OF SHARES

Appravals Required

Under the takeovers provisions of tha Cerporations Act, a person is prehibited from acquiring a relevant inferest

in voting shares in @ company iF: :

* the acquisition would result in the person having more than 20% of the voling power in the company; or

* the person already has between 20% and 90% of the voling pewer of the company, and after tha acquisiton:
wauld have a greater percentage of the company,

unless the acquisitien falls under one of the axceptions set out in section 611 of the Carporations Act. One

such oxception is set out in jlem 7 of sectian 611 where the acquisition has been approved by non-interested

sharahalders, ‘

Upon the issue of the 391,040,000 Shares, Neaside will hald mare than 20% of the votlng sharas of Tennyson
and so the placement requires Shareheldar approval,
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Sharehaldar approval [s also raguired where:

¢ o public company intends to give @ “financial benefit” fo a “related party” under Chapter 2E of the
Corporafions Act; and
* g lisled company infends to issue Shares to a “related parly” under Listing Rula 10,11,

The Corporations Act defines o related party of a public company te include:

» an entity that conirals the public company;

* an enlily that balieyas or has reasenahle grounds te balieve thet it s likely to control the public company at
any time in the future;

* an entity that is, or was in the previous & manths, conirolled by a director of the public company.

*  Neoside will held 69.6% of the shares in Tennyson following the proposed placement of Shares and would
tharefora have raasanable greunds to baljeve that it will control Tennysen in the future; and

*  Geoffrey Rubython and John Flefcher cre directors of Tennysen and have controlled Neoside within the
previous & menths,

Neoside is deemed to be o related party of Tennyspn under section 228 of the Corporalions Act and under

Listing Rule 10.17.

Glying a “financial banefit” is broadly defined in the Corporations Actand includes the issuing of securities. The
financial benefit being given to Neoside under the proposal is the issue of Shares.

Accordingly Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act and Listing Rule 10.11 provide that Tennyson must obtain
Shareholder approval fer the issue of the shares te Neoside.

Further, Listing Rule 7.1 precludes q campany fram issujng more than 15% of its jssued share eqpital in any 12
month period without the approval of Sharehalders, Hawaver, if Sharehalder approval for the Issue of the Shares
js oblainad undsr Lisfing Rule 10,11, thep addifional approval 1s not required under Listing Rule 7.1, as the lssua
will fall within Exception 14 under Listing Rule 7.2.

Naoside’s interssts in Tennyson and maximum voting power
Naoside ond its associafes eurrantly hold na Shares in the Company. -

Under reselution 1, Tannysan will fssue 391,040,000 Shares to Neaside at a subseription price of 2.5 cenfs
per Share which will increase Neoside's voting power to approximately 69.6% based an the expanded issued
capite! affer the issve.

Further defails regarding the hOIders of a relevant interest in the Shares o be issued to Neoside are set out in
seclion 3.2,

Neoside’s intantions

Mr Rubython and Mr Fletcher are bath directors of Neoside and haye heen appointad lo the Tennysen board.

Neaslds intends 1o:

* malntain Tennysen as @ company on the officlal lis} of the ASX;

= underiake a slrategic review of Tennysan, Neoslde would sesk fo work in alase consultation with the exisfing
Tennysan Directors and management In conducting the strategic review. Any proposal put forward by
Nedoside in relaffen fo that review would be accompanied ky a business case in support of such propssal;
an

* implement initiatives that are consisient with the sulcomes of the strategic review.

if Shareholder approval is abtained for resoluion 1, Neaside intends fo conduct an immediate review of

Tennyson's ossels and aparatans fo identify and assist Tennyson management io devslop strategies to:

* occelerate Datareach’s aecsss to international business appartuniiles;

* dsfine Dalareach’s research & devslepment pathway and so maximise the market opportunities in the
emerging high growth secfors;

* upgrade the SOX business’ core technology, add new fechnologies and expand the SOX preduet range o
batter supply existing ssctors servicad by the business as well as create new markst opportunities;
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* upgrade the SOX business’ markefing and sales operations so s to expand the business’ diskribution network
in Australio and overseas, as well as eptering rew market sectors;

* reafise the technalogleal synergies of the Dalareach and SOX businesses to areate new and complementary
prodlucts; and

* enable each of the Parareach and SOX businesses o promote each othar's product renge thraugh thelr
respective disiribution chanpels and direct marksting qnd salling aetivitios,

Suhject to the conclusions of the propesed strategic review, it is the present intention of Neoside and its nominee

directars o} v

* conlinue the Tennyson businesses and the activitles of its two subsidiaries in subsiantially the same manner in

. which they are presently being conducled;

= build, strengthen and broaden the acfivities of both subsidiaries so that they will hecome leaders in their
respective markel sectors;

= continue to employ the siaff of both subsidigries; -

* intraduce to the subsidiarias additienal resaurces and management expertise to enable them to implement the
prapased strategles and achievs the proposed objectives.

It Is not the intantion of Neoside to; .

» make any major changes to the Tennyson businesses ar e redeploy any of the fixad gssets of Tennyson;

* make any further injections of capital infe Tennyson following the subscription for 391,040,000 Shares
which ore fhe subject of resolution 1; or

s fransfer any properly (including intellectual property) between Neoside and Tennyson,

The statements eentained In this section 4,1 regarding Necside's intentions represent the present intenfions of
Neoslide an the basis of the facts and Information concerning Tennysen and its subsidiaries and the existing
clreumstances affecting the businesses of Tennyson which are known to Neoside at the fime of preparation of this
Explanatory Memerandum, Final decisions will only be madse in light of all the material informatlian, facts and
circumstonces necessary fa assess the eperational, cammercial and Isgal, faxation and financtal implicatians of
such decisions at the relevant time, Furthar, thase [ntentions must be understoad 1o be subject at all imes to the
paramount obligation of the Tennyson Board te act In the bast Interests of all Shareholders,

Timing of lasue of Shares to Neoside
If Sharehaldsr approva) is oblainad, these Shares will be issued io Neoside on or hefara the date which Is 2
business days affer the dgte of the Generg| Mesting.

The Shares to be jssued to Neoside will rank equally with the existing ardinary shares in the Company.

Dilution of Existing Shareholding

The issue of Shares will have a dilufing effect an existing Shareholders' holdings. Using the Company's shara
capital as af the date of this Explanatary Memorandum, the dilutionary effect of the issua of Sharas to Naoside
would be approxjmatsly 69.6%,

Other than the infermation set out in this Explanatery Memeorandum, neither the Directors nor the Compony are
gware of any additional information that is reasanably required by Shareholdars in order fo decide whether or
nol it i3 in tha Company's interests fo prass the proposed resalufion,

Future Acquisitions

On completion of the proposed Share issue, Nepsida will hold approximately 69.6% of the total issued eapltal
of Tennyson. This will result in Neoside having cantrol over Tennyson, which may impact on potential lnkeovers
of the Company. :

The existence of a major Sharehelder may encourage patential bidders, as a major Sharaholder will new exist
with whom a bidder can negoliate the lerms of any proposed keover offer,

However, any patantial bidder of Tennyson will need to persuade Neaside to aceept the affer o oblain contral.
This may make Tennyson g less altractive takacyer target for a patential hidder,
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Markest Sale Prices

The highest and lowest market sale prics of Tennyson ‘s Shares on ASX during the 3 menths prier fo 17 July 2003,
being the date of the announcement of the Neaside propesal, warae:

Highest Price: $0.047 on 17 April 2003; and

Lowest Price: £0.022 on 5 Juns 2003.

The last markat sale price of Tennysan's sheres an ASX on the business day prier te the date of this Explanatory
Memorandum was $0.031 on 25 Seplember 2003,

4,2 RESOLUTION 2 — RATIFICATION OF PREVIOUS PLACEMENT OF SHARES

Listing Rule 7.1 precludes a company from issuing more than 15% of its issued share capital in any 12 menth
period without the approval of Sharsholders.

On 17 July 2003 tha Campany lssued 8,960,000 Sharas at an issue price of 2,5 cants par Shara, raising
$224,000 io the following Investors:

Name Neo. of Sheres Amount Subscribed §
Yagg Investment 4,000,000 $100,000
William John Trenear 1,000,000 $25,000
Personal Co. Fifteen Phy Lid 960,000 $24,000
Sunnyview Achievements Ply Lid 2,000,000 $50,000
Tintage Holdings Pfy Hd 1,000,000 $25,000
[(GEMS Suparannyation Fund)

8,960,000 $224,000

The Shares issued rank equally with the other ordinary sharas in tha Cempany.

The $224,000 ralsed was used to fund the werking capital requirements of Tennysen, which are outiinad in more
dstall in section 2.1,

While Shareheldar approval for the issue of the Shares the subject of resolution 2 was not required af the time
the Shares were issued, the effect of tha Issue (s to reduce the Company's copacity fo issue additional securities
in the future without Sharehalder approval,

While the Company has no presenf infentian o [ssue new securities other than the issue of the Shares the subject
of reselution 1 and the issue of the Optians the subject of resalufion 5, it is considared prudent ta refrash the
Company’s abllity to Issue new securilies up fo the 15% thresheld without Sharshalder appraval. This is so that
the Company ¢an respond quickly fo any need or opportunily o issus new Shares in the future (if the Diractors
censider this fo be in the best interssts of the Campany].

The Company’s abilily fo issus new securities can be refrashed under Lisiing Rule 7.4 by seeking Sharcholder
rafification of any securily issue made in the previous 12 months,

If resofution 2 15 not passed, the Campany moey be required to incur the cost and delay of convening an
extrqordinary general meeting of Shareholdars befara it may proceed with any further equity raising.

Your Board racommends that Sharehalders rafify the previous issue by vefing in favour of resolution 2,
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4.3 RESOLUTION 2 — RATIFICATION OF PREVIOUS PLACEMENT QF SHARES

As stated [n seclion 4.2, Listing Rule 7.1 precludes a company from issuing more than 15% of its lssued share
capital in any 12 month paried without the approval of Sharaholdsrs,

On 1 April 2003, the Company lssued 13,333,333 Shares af an issve prics of 3 cents per Share, raising
$4Q0,000 Io the follawing Investors:

Name No. of Shares Amount Subscribed $
Robert Pittorins 10,000,000 $300,000
All-States Secretariat Pty Lid 3,333,333 $100,000

(Superannuation Fund Accounl)
13,333,333 $400,000

The Shares issued rank equally with the ather ordinary sharss in the Company-
The $400,000 rajsed was usad to repay oulstanding cenvertible notes.

While Shareholder approval for the issue of the Shares the subject of resalufien 3 was nat required at the time
the Shares were issued, the effect of the issue is fo reduce the Company’s capaeity ta issue addifional securitias
in the future withaut Sharehojder qpprovul, :

As specified cbove, while the Company has no prasent Intantion ta [ssua new securities other than the issue of the
Shares the subject of resolution 1 and the fssue of the Qptlans the subject of reselufian 5, it Is contiderad prugdent
to refrash the Company’s abllity o issus new securilies up fo the 15% threshold withaut Shareholder approval.
This is so that the Company <an respand quickly te any need or opporiunity o issue new Shares in the future (if
ths Diractors copsider this to be in the best interests of the Company).

The Company's abilily to issue new securities can be rafrashed under Usting Rule 7.4 by seeking Shoraholder
ratification of any security issue made in tha pravious 12 manths,

if resolution 3 is not passed, tha Company may be required fo incur the cost and delay of convening an
extraardinary general mesting of Shareholders befare it may proceed with any further equity raising.

Your Board recemmends that Shareholders ratify the previous issue of shares by voling in favour of resalution 3.

4.4 RESOLUTION 4 — CHANGE OF THE COMPANY'S NAME

Resolufion 4 has been propased so that Sharehalders may consider qnd, if theught fit, approve far the purposes
af sectian 157(1) of the Corporaflons Act, the change of the name of the Company from Tennysen Networks Ltd
to FUSIA Limited.

Tennyson is in the pracess of undergeing significant change, bath in its proposed ownership structure and
the scope of |1s product effering. It has acquired addltionol tachnelegy and products through the Detarscch
acqulsifon and has plans to further develop the SOX product nge. As a result, the directors consider it
appropriate to adopt a new nama that reflects the company's new profila and poential.

The direclors engagad an extarnal tonsultancy to assist in the procsss of identifying @ new name for the
company. Selected rasellers, clients and employeas participated in this exercise.

FUSIA reflects the fuslon of ideas and technolagles. The Board believes thal the name 1s:

* fresh, medarp and internaticnal;

* a r;qme around which the Company can build o renewed corporate Identity and a dynamic global brand;
an

» aname that will embrace the Company’s businesses.
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Your Board recommends that Sharehalders approve the change of the company’s nama to FUSIA [imited by
voling in faveur of resel|ution 4,

The change of name is condltional upon Sharehelders appreving reselution 1.

4.5 RESOLUTION 5§ — ISSUE OF OPTIONS

This resalution has been prepased so that shareholders may consider, and if thought fit, approve, for the
purposes of Listing Ruls 7.1, the issue of Cplicns, and the issue of shares upon exercise of the Options, to Yagg
Investment. i

The Company entered inte a loan agreement with Yogg Invesiment on 14 August 2003, Under the loan
egresment, Vogg Investment agreed to loan the Company up to @ maximum of $250,000, This menay will be
used by the Company fo satisly its neads for working capltal. Under the loan agreemant the Company is required
to issus fa Vagg Investment 8,333,333 unlisted Options in the Company exercisable at $0.08 per Oplion
with an axpliry date balng 12 manths after the date the Optiens are issued and is required to seek shareholder
approval for the jssue of those Optens. ‘

It {5 thersfere proposed that the Company issue to Vagg Investment 8,333,333 unlisted Options in the Company,

Obligations under the Listing Ryles

In accordance with Listing Rule 7.3 the following defails are provided:

* The Company will issue a lofal of 8,333,233 Oplions o Vagg Inveaiment.

* |fthe proposed jssbe is appravad, the Optiaps will be allotted and issusd as scan as prachiegble, but in any
aven}, within three months after the date of the General Meeling.

= The Options will be issued for nil copsideration. The exercise price of each Optian will be $0.03.

* The terms of the Opliens are set out in Sehedule 3 fo this Explanatory Memorandum.

* No funds will be raised on the issue of the Ophiens. The intended use of the funds to be recalved on exarcise
of the Oplians is to provide working capital,

Your Board recammands that Sharsheolders approve the Issue of Options to Yagg Investment by voling in favour
of resolutian 5,

5 GLOSSARY

Agreement means the agreemant batwaen Neaside and Teanyson for the jssue of 391,040,000 Shares to Neoside
al an issue price of 2,5 eants per Share axgcufed on 16 July 2003;

ASX means Australian Stock Exchange Limited;

Beard means the beoard of Directors of Tennysan;

Company or Tennyson means Tenpyson Netwarks Limited ACN 009 805 298; '
Constitution means the constitution of the Cempany;

Corporalions Act means Corparations Act 2001 (Cth);

Directors means directors of Tannyson;

Explanatery Memorandum means this explangtery memorandum;

General Mesting means the meeting convenad hy this nelice of general meeting;

Independent Expert means PricewaterhonseCaapers Securities Lid;
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Independent Expert’s Repert means the report of the Independent Expert which is set out in Schedule 1 to this
Explanajory Memarandum; ’

Listing Rules means the listing rules of the ASX;

Notice of Mesting means this nofice of genergl meeting;

Neoside means Neoside Pty 1id ACN 007 442 579;

Option or Options means an oplion or oplions over Shores;
Shareheolder or Sharehelders means a helder of a Share or Shares;
Share or Shares means fully paid ordingry share or shares in Tennysen;

Vagg Investment means Vagg {nvestment Management Services Ply Lid {ACN 002 184 278},

i

SCHEDULE 1 — INDEPENDENT EXPERT’S REPORT

NOTICE OF GENERAL MERETING 19




30.5EP.2803 19:35 TENNYSON TECNOLOGY &1 3 95589965 NC. 234 P.21-49

PRICEAVATERHOUSE(COPERS

PricewaterhouseCaspers
Sceurities Led

ACN 0031311 £17

ABN 54 003 311 R17

Hbolder of dealor's licence No 11203

The Independent Directors QVl
25Q St Georges Terrace
Tennyson Networks Ltd PERTH WA 6000
e . GPO Box D158
11\14 B}Jsm 58 Park Drive O e D18 o
MELBOURNE VIC 3168 Astralia
WAV, pWo.comm/a
Telephone 4-61 8 9238 3000
18 September 2003 Fecsimile 61 8 9238 3939

Ditect Phane OB 9238 3362
Diract Fax 08 9218 5299

Proposed Issue of Shares to Neoside Pty L.td - Independent
Expert’s Report under Section 611 (Item 7) of the Corporations Act

Dear Sirs
Introduction

1 You have requested PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Ltd (“PWCS”) to prepare
an independent expert’s report in relation to the proposed issue of shares to Neoside
Pty Ltd (“Neoside™), as described in the following paragraphs (“the Proposal™).
This report is to accompany the notice of extraordinary general meeting of the
shareholders of Tennyson Networks Ltd (“Tennyson” or “the Company™) to be
held on 31 October 2003.

The Proposal

2 On 17 July 2003, Tennyson announced that it had entered into a share subscription
agreement for the issue of 391,040,000 shares to Neaside at an issue price of 2.5
cents per share to raise $9.776 million, The purpose of the Proposal is to provide
Tennyson with working capital to support the Datareach business recently acquired
from Ericsson Communications Limited in New Zealand, for the continued
commercialisation and marketing of its Smart Office exchange (SOX) product and
to repay short tenn advances provided to Tennyson for its liquidity needs,

3 The Praposal is conditional on the gpproval of the shareholders of Tennyson and on
Tennyson’s existing directors, Messrs Barry, Leighton and Parker, remaining
directors as at the completion of the issue of shares to Tennyson. Completion of
the issue of shares and remittance of subscription funds is to take place two
business days after the date of the meeting of Tennyson’s shareholders.
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4

In order to assist Tennyson in meeting its immediate working capital needs,
Neoside agreed on 8 August 2003 to provide a short term funding facility of up to
$2 million. As at the date of this report, Tennyson has partially drawn down the
funding under this facility and anticipates that the facility will be fully drawn by the
date of the shareholders’ meeting. The amounts owed by Tennyson under this
faeility will be repaid from the share issue to Neoside or, if the Proposal is not
approved by Tennyson’s sharcholders in general meeting, the amounts are
repayable 90 days after the general meeting. The borrowings are unsecured and
bear interest at 10.75% per annum untjl repayment.

The funds to be raised under the Proposal are expected to meet Tennyson’s funding
needs for the financial year ending June 2004. The directors anticipate that by that
time Tennyson will have re-established the SOX business and expanded the
distribution of the Datareach products, The need for further funding and the
appropriate type of such funding will be re-assessed at that time. Tennyson expects
that its capacity to support prudent levels of debt funding and to attract equity
capital will have significantly improved by the end of the 2004 financial year.

If the Proposal is approved by shareholders, Neoside will have an interest of 69.6%
in Tennyson on an undiluted bagis and a 67% interest on a fully diluted basis taking
into account options granted by Tennyson.

Our Opinion

7

In our view, the Proposal is fair and regsonable to the shareholders of Tennyson.
We congider that the benefits of the Proposal autweigh the disadvantages of the
Proposal, as set out below:

Benefits of the Proposal

(a) The Proposal will enable Tennyson to meet its commitments to repay
liabilities which are due in the short term. Tennyson has a critical shortage
of working capital, If the Proposal does not proceed, there is significant
uncertainty about Tennyson's ability to continue as a going concem.
Tennyson’s activities would need to be curtailed while urgent alternative
funding is sought and/cr assets sold. There is 8 risk that Tennyson would be
placed in administration if alternative funding was not available, The
company has been reliant on short term advances from its directors to
complete the acquisition of the Datareach business and more recently on the
working capital facilities provided by Neoside and Vagg Investment
Management Services Pty Ltd (“Vagg™);

2
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(b)

(©

@

(e)

The Proposal allows Tennyson to secure sufficient funding for its working
capital requirements for the remainder of the 2004 financial year, providing
the company with the opportunity to re-establish the SOX business and
grow the Datareach business;

The Praposal] will provide Tennyson with a substantial level of cash funding
which is unlikely to be available on better terms from alternative sources,
There is limited potential for Tennyson to raise substantial capital from
other sources in the short term. The directors have advised that alternative
sources of finance have been sought and that there are no alternative
proposals available to Tennyson on more favourable terms than the
Proposal at this time, Tennyson has had difficulty in raising significant
amounts of equity capital;

The subscription price of 2.5 ceats is the same as the price at which
Tennyson has placed shares for approximately 5% of Tennyson to third
party professional investors o raise $224,000 of equity capital on 17 July
2003. (This subscription price was 12% below the price at which
Tennyson’s shares traded in the six weeks before the placement);

Tennyson’s financial position will improve markedly if the Proposal is
approved, The company has a deficiency of net assets ($404,000 at 30 June
2003) and current liabilities exceed current assets (by approximately $1
million at 30 June 2003). If the Proposal is approved, Tennyson will have
estimated net assets of $8.9 million following the capital injection by
Neoside;

Disadvantages of the Proposal

®

(e

If the Proposal proceeds Neoside will hold 69.6% of Tennyson’s shares on
an undiluted basis and the existing shareholders will be diluted to holding -
around 30.4% of Tennysan’s shares;

The subscription price of 2.5 cents per share to be paid under the Proposal is
aroynd 12% 1o 17% below the price at which Tennyson’s shares have traded
in the four to six week periods before the announcement of the Proposal.
Therefore, the Proposal will provide Neoside with effective control of
Tennyson without paying a premiumn above the obgerved share market
price. We have considered the fundamental uncertainties abaut Tennyson’s
financial pogition, and the significant risks to Neoside of the substantial
funding injection it will make under the Proposal. In our view, in such

(3)
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circumstances it is arguable that a premium for contral is inherently being
paid by Neogide, althoygh it is not practicable to quantify the premium for
control; :

®m The Propasal may be considered likely to deter the making of a talkeover bid
for Tennyson in the future, due to the greater concentration in the

owrnership.
Structnre of thé Report
g The balance of this report is sef out in the following sections:
I Basis for Our Evaluation of the Proposal

11 Analysis of Tennyson
I1I Key Factors in Our Assessment of the Propesal

Appendices
A Declarations and Disclosures
B Sources of Information

Yours sincerely

e,

Andrew Edwards
Authorised Representative

)




30.5EP. 2083 19:37 TENNYSON TECNOLOGY 61 3 95589965 NO. 234 P.25749

PRICEAVATERHOUSE(COPERS

The Independent Direcfors
18 Seprember 2003

I

Basis for Our Evaluation of the Proposal

Purpose of the Report

9

10

11

12

13

Section 606(1) of the Corporations Act prohibits the acquisition of an interest of
more than 20% of the issued share capital of a company without making an offer to
all shareholders of the company, An exemption to this general prohibition is set
out in Section 611(Item 7), whereby such an acquisition is allowed where the
acquisition is approved by a majority of shareholders at a general meeting and no
votes are cast in respect of shares held by the acquirer or its associates.

The issue of shares under the Proposal would give Neoside entitlement to shares in
the Company such that Neoside would hold more than 20% of the issued share
capital of Tennyson. Therefore, the issue of shares to Neoside would require the
approval of Tennyson’s shareholders not associated with the proposed transactions
under Section 611(Item 7).

Australian Securities and Investments Commission (“ASIC") Policy Statement 74
requires that shareholders voting on a Section 611(ltem 7) resolution must be
provided with sufficient information to assess the merits of the proposal including a
report, prepared by either the independent directors or an independent expert,
stating whether the propaesed issue is fair and reasonable so far as the non-
associated sharcholders of the company are concerned,

We have been engaged by the independent directors to prepare an independent
expert’s report within the terms of ASIC Policy Statement 74 to be included in an
explanatory memorandum to be sent to Tennyson’s shareholders in connection with
the Proposal.

This report has been prepared solely for the purpose of assisting the non-associated
shareholders of Tennyson in considering Resolution One set out in the attached
notice of extraordinary general meeting. This report has not been prepared to
provide information to parties considering the purchase or sale of any equity or
other security in Tennyson. Accordingly, we do not assume any responsibility or
liability for any losses suffered as 2 result of the use of this report contrary to the
provisions of this paragraph.

&)
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Factors to be Considered

14 In assessing whether the Propasgl is fair and reasonable from the perspective of
non-associated shareholders, we have had regard to the criteria set out in ASIC
Policy Staternent 74. The Policy Staternent directs an expert preparing a Section
611 (Item 7) report to consider all the circumstances of the proposal and compare
the likely advantages and disadvantages to non-associated shareholders if the
proposal is agreed to, with the advantages and disadvantages to those shareholders
if it is not. Specific factors which we have identified as relevant to this assessment
include; -

(a) the impact of the Proposal on Tennyson’s financial position and solvency;

(b) the alternatives available to Tennyson if the Proposal does not proceed,
including the availability of the level of funding under the Proposal on
better terms from other sources;

(¢)  the value of the securities being issued compared with the value of the
consideration received;

(d) the extent of any premium for centrol being received by Tennyson; and

(&) whether the issue of securitics, if agreed to, may deter the making of a
takeover bid for Tennyson in future.

15 In evaluating the Proposal, we have addressed the value of the shares to be issued
by Tennyson. It is extremely difficult to assess a definitive value for a controlling
interest in Tennyson st the current time due to the company’s vulnerzable financial
position, the stage of development of the SOX business and the uncertain outlook
for earnings and cashflow from Tennyson’s aperations. In these circumstances, we
consider that the price at which shares have been issued for other recent capital
raisings and the trading prices for the Company’s shares on the ASX before the
announcement of the Proposal provide the mast useful measure for assessing the
reasonableness of the price at which shares are to be subscribed by Neoside,

Information Used

16 In performing our assessment of the Proposal, we have been provided with
financial and management information about Tennyson including management's
forecasts on 3 monthly besis for the period to 30 June 2004 and longer term
forecasts for the SOX business for the three years ending 30 June 2006.

(6)
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17

18

There are a number of inherent uncertainties in forecasts, including assumptions of
the levels of sales achieved for SOX and the Datareach products. Shareholders
should be aware of the limitations of forecasts at this stage of the product life for
Tennyson’s produots, particularly SOX, Forecasts by their nature are uncertain and
actuyal outcomes may ultimately differ materially from forecasts dye to the fact that
some matters ate inherently uncertain and factors within and outside the contro] of
Tennyson’s management.

The conclusions of this report arc based on assessments made, and information
available, at the date of signing this report. We reserve the right (but will be under
no obligation) to amend the conelusions of this report insofar as further information
relevant to the forming of our conclusions becomes Jmown to us after the date of
this repart, but prior to the general meeting of Tennyson’s shareholders.

9}




38.SEP. 2003 19138 TENNYSOM TECNOLOGY 51 3 95589965 NO. 234 P.28-43
PRICEAATERHOUSE(COPERS

The Indopendent Divectors
18 September 2063

II Analysis of Tennyson
Overview of Tennyson’s Activities

19 Since 1994, Tennyson has operated in the telecommunications technology industry
and now has two key product areas:

a) SOX (Smart Office eXchange), a product developed by Tennyson which
integrates the voice, facsimile, voicemail, data and intemet communication
needs of small offices with up to 64 users; and

(b) Datareach, a business with a range of products regently acquired from
Ericsson in New Zealand, These products enable broadband internet
communications over traditiona) copper networks. Datareach has a licence
to sell the praducts in Poland, the Russian Federation and the Philippines
ynder the Ericsson brand until 31 December 2003.

Nature of Telecommunications Industry

20 The telecommunications technelogy industry in which Tennyson operates is highly
© competitive and has experienced significant volatility over the last decade.

21 During the 1990°s, the telecommunications industry globally and in Australia
experienced significant growth with the deregulation of telecommunications
services and the development and success of new products and services including
mobile telephones and the Internet. There was significant business expenditure on
Internet and e-commerce applications to improve productivity, while the Y2K issue
generated demand to replace and upgrade information technology capabilities and
systems. There was also expansion in telecommunications networks from
investment by new carriers and the digitisation and enhancement of existing
networks. There was (and continyes to be) an ongaing trend of convergence
between telecominunications, information technology and entertainment products.

(&)
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22

23

This growth in new technology applications and activity fuelled the “dot-com”
boom of the late 1990°s and early 2000. From the first quarter of 2000 to the first
half of 2001, the technology and telecommunications industries experienced a
severe downturn, In March and April 2000, stock markets experienced the
“technology bubble burst” when the Nasdaq market in the United States fell
dramatically dye to the deterioration in investor sentiment toward the technology
sector and concems about the cagh bum rates of new technology companies. From
late 2000/ early 2001, the slowdown in economic activity and excess capacity in
telecommuynications infrastructure reduced capital programs by telecommunications
service providers placing pressure on more established suppliers of
telecommunications and information technology products and services. Weakness
in the technology and telecommunications markets has continued in 2002 and 2003.

While the telecommunjcations sectar generally is expected to hayve modest real
growth for the next five year period, stronger prospects are expected for
applications which facilitate broadband access to the Internet, New third
generation mobile communication networks arg also expected to support dernand

for data-enabled and dual mode handsets (combining telephony, email and Internet

access). . Demand from the business sector is also expected to be strong for

applications which provide further improvements in productivity and efficiency.

The telecommunications technology industry demands ongoing innovation and
investment in product development and products can quickly become obsolete.
This provides both apportunities and risks for new market entrants such as
Tennyson. New products can gain technical recognition and early sales, However,
there are significant barriers to small start-up companies (such as Tennyson)
achieving broad market acceptance and brand recognition of products and in
building a sales and distribution network to support the volume of sales necessary
to recover development and marketing costs. High cash burn rates, difficulties in
accessing funding for working capital and poar commercial returus are cormmon at
the early commercialisation stage.

History of Tennyson

25

Tennyson was founded in 1970 as Tennyson Minerals NL, In 1994, Tennyson
changed activities with the acquisition of a telecommunications technology
business which provided remote access products and supplied ISDN PC cards.

®
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26

27

28

In 1996, Tennyson commenced the development of the SOX product which was
ultimately launched in Australia and New Zealand in 1999 and internationally in
2000. During 2000, Tennyson adopted an intensive produot distribution strategy to
market SOX internationally. Offices were opened in the United Kingdom, France
and Italy and distributors appointed in territories including South Africa, Israel and
Korea.

By late 2000 / early 2001, Tennyson was severely impacted by the global downturn
in trading conditions in the telecommunications sector. The demands on
Tennyson’s cash resources of its internationa! marketing activities was exacerbated
by the decline in the value of the Australian dollar during this period. On 21 March
2001, Tennyson requested a suspension in the trading of its shares while the
company’s operations were restructured and recapitalised. The overseas operations
were closed, an additional $4.8 million capital was raised and the board of directors
was changed. Tennyson's shares resumed trading on 16 August 2001 and the
company has continued to promote the SOX product.

On 14 January 2003, Tennyson announced that heads of agreement had been signed
for the conditional acquigition of the data services business of Ericsson New
Zealand. On 2 April 2003, Tennyson announced that it had entered into
discussions with a number of parties interested in acquiring the operations and
intellectual property of the SOX business, with the intention that Tennyson would
focus on the new Datareach businegs, On 17 June 2003, Tennyson announced its
intention to raise approximartely 33,5 million through an underwritten prorata share
issue to sharchelders following the sale of SOX, such funds to be used for the
acquisition of Datareach and future working capital, The acquisition of the
Datareach bysiness was completed effective from } July 2003 and was funded by
advances from Tennyson’s directors. The negotiations for the sale of SOX were
ongoinp until 17 July 2003, when Tennyson announced a change in strategy with
SOX to be retained and the proposed capital injection of $9,776 million by
Neoside,

Trading Performance

29

We summarise below the reported trading results of Tennyson for the three years
ended 30 June 2002 and the six months ended 31 December 2002, together with the
preliminary unaudited result for the year ended 30 June 2003;

(19
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Six Months
Year ended 30 June Ended31 | g 1o
. 0 June
, . - - | Deeember
($'000) . 2000 2001 200? 2002 2003. '
Aundited  Audifed  Andiled | Reviewpd | Unaudifed
Sales 2244 3235 2,500 1,149 1,780
Cost of sales (2.052) (2,778) (1.264) (617) {990)
Gross profit 192 460 1,236 532 790
Operating costs (net of other income) (2,763) (6,737) __ (4,293) (2,20]) (3,648)
Trading loss @s7)  (6277)  (3,057) (1,669) (2.858)
Orher costs!
Amortisation of capitalised R&D costs (2,374) (785) - - -
R&D costs written off _ - (3,599)  (2,046) - -
Seftlement with unrelated party - (1,129) - - -
Stock obsolescence - - - - (33%8)
Bad and doubtful debts (expense) / written back (30) (442) 292 (50) 25
Lass before interest and tax 4,978) (12,232 (4,811 (1,719) (3.168)
Net mterest (expense) / income 110 43 (71) (16) (33)
Loss before tax (4,865) (12,189) (4,882) (1,735) (3,201)

Source: Company Aocounts

30

31

The trading results set out above reflect Tennysan’s SOX praduct business only.
The trading for the Datareach business acquired from Ericsson New Zealand will
be recognised by Tennyson from 1 July 2003, The Datareach business is trading
profitably and is expected to make a positive contribution to Tennyson’s financial
performance.

Tennyson’s SOX business has incyrred losses throughount the periods tabulated
above. The increase in the trading loss in 2001 reflects the costs of the
international marketing activities which were closed in the last quarter of the 2001
financial year. The business has undergone ongoing cost rationalisation since
2001. The lower sales in 2003 reflect the reduced marketing activity from January
2003 when the SOX business was to be sold and the restrictions on the business
from the shortage of working capital. Management is planning for increased sales
activity and new product development for the SOX products following the capital
injection from Neoside. The SOX business is expected by management to reach a
breakeven trading position fram the finaneial year ending 30 June 2005, although
forecasts for the future performance of the SOX business are inherently uncertain,

(11)
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Cashflow Position

32 We set out below the cashflow of Tennyson for the three years ended 30 June 2002
and the six months ended 31 December 2002, together with the unaudited cashfiow
for the year ended 30 June 2003 (amounis in brackets represent cash outflows):

Teprp—

Six Months
Year ended 30 Jupe - Ended 31 Y;“ ondad
' o ‘ Q June
; , December
(5°000) ZN}O 20(_)1 . 20(_)2 ; 2902 2003
- Audijed Andited Audited Reviewed | Unandited
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 1,596 3,171 1,977 1,570 2,309
Payments to suppliers & employees (4,134) (9,108) (7,263) (2,689) (3,713)
Interest received 149 109 65 6 8
Other income 201 40 254 2 13
Interest paid (30) (48} (135) (22) (48)
(2,218) (5,836) (5,102) (1,133) (1.431)
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equiprent (158) (7)) 42} (31) (83)
Prooeeds on disposal of equipment 10 5 10 - 1
b i el U R R
Payment for Datareach business - - - - (848)
' (3,215) (2,895) (61 (31) (900
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ghares 6,569 7,432 6,455 125 937
Payment of share isgue expenses (187) (275) (371 - (26)
Proceeds from barrowings - 500 500 550 1,565
Repayment of borrowings - - (1,000} - (593}
Repayment of other amounts 41) 92 (8 - -
6,741 7,743 5,576 675 1,883
Net (decrease)/inerease in cash held 1,308 (982) 413 (489) (448)
Cash at beginning of finagcial year (206) 1,102 120 533 533
Cash at end of financial year 1,102 120 533 44 85

Source: Company Accounis

(12)
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33 Tennyson’s cash requirements associated with the development and
commercialisation of the SOX product have been funded primarily by equity
capital. The capacity of Tennyson to attract equity capital has diminished since its
re-capitalisation in late 2001, Capital raising programs since that time have not
provided the company with sufficient funding (as discussed later in this report) and
Tennyson has been dependent on short term advances to maintain its operations and
remain solvent.

34 Tennyson has & small bank line of credit but has limited capacity to support
significant external borrowings. The borrowings in the periods outlined above are
mainly comprised of $1.4 millian advanced by way of convertible notes (all of
which have been converted or repaid) and advances of $1,065,740 by the directors
during the 2003 financial year to fund the acquisition of the Datareach business
from Ericsson New Zealand and to provide working capital,

35 Since 30 June 2003, working capital has been provided by professional tlurd party
investors comprising an equity placement which raised $224,000 in July 2003 and a
working capital advance of $250,000 in August 2003 and by Neoside in the form of
a short term facility of $2 million which is expected to be fully drawn down in
October 2003. -

36 Tennyson is in need of further working capital to fund its operations and to repay
the short term advances and a backlog of trade creditors, The SOX business is
expected to place continuing cashflow demands on Tennyson until it reaches
sufficient scale to be cashflow positive (expected in the fingncial year ending June
2006), The Datareach business, while trading profitably, will require funding in the
immediate future to support the build-up of working capital (debtors) and
expansion of the business.

Financial Position

37 Tennyson has a deficiency of net assets as at 30 June 2003 and is in a vulnerable
financial position, The audit report for the half year ended 31 December 2002
expressed significant uncertainty about the ability of Tennyson to continue as a
going concern and to pay its debts as and when they fall due. We set out below
Tennyson’s vnaudited consalidated financial position as at 30 June 2003, together
with the financial position as at 31 December 2002. The assets and liabilities
purchased through the acquisition of the Datareach business are reflected in the
financial position as at 30 June 2003;

(13)
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December 2002 30 Jona 2003
(§000) Reviewed LU'napdited
Current assets
Cash 44 8S
Receivables 388 329
Inventories 1,217 1,018
Other current agsets - 25
1,649 1,454
Non-current assets
Praperty, plant and equipment 100 600
Tots) gssets 1,749 2,054
Current liabilities
Payables 696 1,116
Interest bearing ligbilities
Bank borrowings (secured) - se
Advances from directats (umsecured) - 016
Convertible notes 400 -
Other borrowings 150 -
Other provisions 1R7 338
1,433 2.426
Non-current lighilities
Otlier provisions 29 32
Total ligbilities 1,462 2,458
Net assets { (deficiency) 287 (404)
Shareholders® Equity
Confribpted equity 35,652 36,438
Reseryes } 10 2)
Acopmulated losses (35,375) _(36,840)
Total equity/ (deficiency) 287 {404)
Contingeant liability

Source: Campany Accounts

(14)
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Notes to Financial Position ~

1. Receivableg — The balance at 30 June 2003 includes trade debtors for the SOX business but
does not incorporate any trade receivables for Datareach which was acquired with effect from 1
July 2003,

2. Inventaries at 30 Tune 2003 inoludes $517,000 for the SOX business and $498,000 for
Datareach, The level of inventory for the SOX products have declined since 31 December 2002
due to a provision for stock pbselescence of §300,000 and e myndown in inventory levels
following the plans to sell the SOX business.

3. Plant and equipment has increased substantialty as at 30 June 2003 due to fixed assets acquired
as part af the Datarcach business.

4, Payables includes around $850,000 backlog of trade creditors at 30 June 2003. Part of this
backlog has been paid using funds provided from the working capital adyances from Vagg, The
balance of the creditors’ backlog is to be discharged using the working capital gdvances from
Neoside and the funds to be raised from the Proposal.

5. Bank borrowings comprise 3 short tarm line of eredit,

6. Advances from directors are unsecured. An amount of approximately $684,000 owed to Messrs
Parker, Barry and Leighton is due for repayment on 30 September 2003, while the remaining
$228.000 owed to Mr Wass (who resigned as & director in July 2003) is payable on demand. It
is anticipated that these advances will be repaid using funds provided from the working capitsl
advance from Neoside subsequent to 30 June 2003.

7. Convertible notes issyed to professionel investors were repaid from proceeds of a placement to
the investors in April 2003.

8. A former executive has served the Company with & claim for alleged breach of contract.
Tennyson disputes this claim and intends pursuing & counter-claim for breach of contract and
fiduciary duties. Na ameount has been provided for the contingent lialility.

Capital Structure

38

As at 31 August 2003, Tennyson had 170,926,958 ordinary shares on issue and
13,680,000 options outstanding. The top twenty shareholders of Tennyson as at 31
August 2003 held approximately 40% of the company’s issued capital, The
shareholding interests of Tennyson’s existing directors and Mr Woss represented
approximately 25% of the ordinary shares on issue and are set out below:

15)
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Name . Number of Shares % Held
Existing Directors
Ross W Leighton 18,511,692 10.83
Edward M Barry 1,984,848 1.16
Harvey C Parker 866,947 0,50
Former Director '
Ronald W Woss 22,175,504 12.98
Total 43,542,991 25.47

Source: Computershare

39 The options outstanding over ynissued ordinary shares by Termyson as at 31
August 2003 are as follows:

Npmber Outstnhding

" Expiry

Type Exercise Price
12 July 2004 Options 10,000,000 $0.100 12-Tul-04
Executive Options (Mr Parker) 2,000,000 30.110 31-Dec-03
Employee Share Option Plan:
Issued 27-Nov-01 1,100,000 $0.040 27-Nov-05
Issued 19-Mar-02 500,000 $0.050 19-Mar-06
Issned 1-Nov-00 45,000 $0.700 1-Nov-04
Issued 1-Jul-00 30,000 $1,000 30-Jun-04
Issued 1-Jul-00 5,000 $1.050 30-Jun-04
Totgl 13,680,000

Terms:

12 July 2004 options were issued to the investors in the convertible notes which were issued in July 2002
1,000,000 options became exercisable on 27 November 2002,
1,000,000 aptions will become exercisable on 27 November 2003
Under the Emplayee Share Option Plan, options may only be exercised as set oyt in the following table:

Perker Executive Options

Time frame % of Options
'Within 1 Year of issue date Nil
rAﬁer 1 year - 25%
After 2 years - 50%
After 3 vears 10D%

Source: Tennyson Nerwarks Limited

(16)
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40 In addition, subject to the approval of Tennyson's shareholders, 8,333,333 options
will be issued to Vagg under the terms of the working capital facility. The options
have a twelve month term and are exercisable at 3 cents each,

Observed Market Trading in Tennyson’s Shares

41 We set out below Tennyson's share trading history for the approximately four years
from 1 July 1999 to 15 September 2003 (based on the closing price of shares traded
on a weekly basis) together with the Nasdaq Telecommunications Index (rebased to
Tennyson's share price) for the same perjod:

Tennyson Networks - Four Year Trading History
for the period 1 July 1939 to 15 Septemnber 2003 '
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42 Over this four year period Tennyson’s share price has fluctuated over a wide range,
reflecting both the movement in the wider telecornmunications technology industry
and factors specific to Tennyson. The share price reached a peak of around $1.59
in November 1999 following the annoyncement of positive progress on the rollout
of the SOX product which had commenced in October 1999, the disclosure of
Mercantile Mutual (ING) as a substantial sharcholder and a placement to raise $3
million subscribed at $1.50 per share.
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43 During April 2000, Tennyson’s share price fell from around $1,40 to 85 cents in
line with the market movements following the “technology bubble burst”
experienced worldwide. Tennyson’s share price continued tq fall broadly in line
with the telecommunications technology market sector until the suspension of
trading requested by Tennyson on 21 March 2001 to allow the review and re-
organisation of its activities and further capital raising.

44 Following the resumption of trading on 16 Angust 2001, Tennyson’s share price
has traded below the Nasdaq market index and in a narrower price band. We set
out below a graph of the trading of Tennyson’s shares on the Australian Stock
Exchange for the period from 1 July 2002 to 15 September 2003 based on the
closing price and volumes of shares traded on a daily hasis:

Daily Closing
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45 From 1 July 2002 unti] the announcement of the acquisition of the Datareach
business from Ericsson New Zealand on 15 Jannary 2003, Tennyson’s share price
traded between 2.5 cents and 4.6 cents. On the day of this announcement,
Tennyson’s share price rose to close at 7 cents and the turmover of shares in the two
days following (15 and 16 January 2003) represented over 80% of number of the
company’s shares on issue. The price has trended downward since January 2003
with the delays in the timing for the seftlement of the Datareach business and the
autcome of sale negotiations for the SOX business which were first announced on 2
April 2003. The movement of the share price in March 2003 reflected the impact
on the market generally of hostilities in Iraq.

46 From June 2003 to 15 July 2003 (two days before the announcement of the
Proposal), Tennyson’s share price traded in the range of 2.2 cents to 3.4 cents, with
a volume weighted average share price of 2,8 cents. On 16 July 2003, the day
before the announcement of the Proposal, Tepnyson’s share price spiked to trade at
between 3.2 cents and 3.8 cents, with 5,61% of the company’s shares fraded on that
day.

47 Following the announcement and until the end of July 2003, Tennyson’s share
price fell to lower price levels with the volume weighted average share price at 3.2
cents. Since early August 2003, Tennyson’s share price has increased to trade at a
volume weighted average price of 3.6 cents, We consider that the share price is
supported by the improved prospects for Tennyson if the Proposal proceeds, In our
view, Tennyson’s share price will fall below current levels if the Proposal is not
approved.

48 Further details of Tennyson’s share trading performance in the period from 1 July
2002 to 15 September 2003 are tabulated below;

(19)
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Prior to Announcement:

P.48-49

July 2002 $0,035 $0.046 $0.035 8,046,103  $0.042 6.15%
Angust 2002 $0.030 $0.040 $0.034 1,054,000  $0.038 D.81%
September 2002 $0.026 $0.035 $0.031 6,874,291  $0.030 5.26%
October 2002 $0.025 $0.036 §0.030 1,790,153  $0.031 1.37%
November 2002 $0.025 $0.037 $0.031 1,692,420  $0.029 1.29%
December 2002 $0.025 $0.040 $0.033 2,457,267 $0,032 1.82%
January 2003 $0,032 $0.086 $0.050 145,259,780  $0.065 97.73%
February 2003 $0.044 $0.063 $0.053 48,685,068  80.054 32.76%
March 2003 $0.030 $0,085 $0.044 23,470,746  $0,044 15.79%
Apri] 2003 $0,035 $0.063 $0.038 35,742,060  $0.050 22.07%
May 2003 $0.026 £0.040 $0.029 24,312,212 B30.033 15,01%
June 2003 $0,022 $0.034 $Q.029 26,207,580 90,028 16.18%
1 to 16 July 2003 $0.026 $0.038 80.038 25,750,366  $0.03] 15.90%
Following the Announcement: :
17 Iuly to 15 September 2003 $0.027 50,041 $0.033 107,634,887  $0.034 62,.97%
Selected Periads Before the Announcement:

Day before $0.032 $£0.038 $0.038 9,087,000 $0,035 5.61%
4 weelcs before $0.,024 $0.038 $0.038 40,568,588  $0.030 23.73%
3 months before $0.022 $0.047 50.038 81,220,224  §0.031 47.52%

Source: lress

(20)
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III Key Factors in Our Assessment of the Proposal

49 Two key factors considered in our assessment of the Proposal are the recent
experiences of Tennyson in seeking and raising additional equity funding and the
impaet of the Proposal on Tennyson’s financial position. Further information on
these matters is set out below,

Recent Capital Raisings

50 Since its restructuring in 2001 and prior to the announcement of the Proposal,
Tennyson has experienced difficulty in raising significant amounts of equity
capital, As part of the recapitalisation following its suspension from trading,
Tennyson announced a 1-for-1 non-renounceable rights issne to raise $4.86 million
by the issne of 44.2 million shares at 11 cents each on 10 May 2001. After
extending the closing date by one week to 24 July 2001, Tennyson’s sharcholders
took up only 20% of their entitlements or 8.5 million shares, leaving 35.7 million
shares to be taken up by subscribers which had committed to take up the shortfall.
Following the resumption of trading on 16 August 2001, Tenuyson’s share price
fell from 10 cents to trade at around 4 cents to 5 cents by late September 2001.
Convertible note funding of $1 million provided by certain of Tennyson’s directors
ag pert of the recapitalisation were converted in December 2001 and February 2002
at conversion prices of 4.28 cents and 3.54 cents respectively.

51 An outline of the outcome and terms of capital raisings during 2002 and 2003 is set
out below:

(a) On 20 May 2002, Tennyson announced the placement of $600,000 share
capital (1S million ghares issued at 4 cents each) together with the issue of
7.5 million one yeer options exercisable at 10 cents;

(b)  InJuly 2002, $400,000 was raised by the issue of convertible notes with a
two year term and convertible at 4 cents, together with 10 million two year
options exercisable at 10 cents;

(c) On 11 October 2002, Tennyson announced a share placement plan for
existing shareholders to take up 33,333,333 shares at 3 cents each to raise
$1 million. By 23 December 2002, 45 shareholders had participated in the
plan taking up 4,166,668 shares to raise $125,000;

(21)
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(d On 17 January 2003, Tennyson placed 13,733,332 shares at 3 cents each to
raise $412,500 from the shortfal] of the share plan. No further placements
were made of the remaining shortfall;

(e) In April 2003, 13,333,333 shares at 3 cents each were placed with the
bolders of the convertible notes to raise $400,000 and the funds used to
repay the amounts owed under the notes; and

69 On 17 July 2003, 8,960,000 shares were issued at 2.5 cents each to
professional investors to raise $224,000 for working capital.

32 The issues of shares during 2003 outlined above were for relatively small amounts
and made at discounts of between 12% and 32% to the prevailing market price.
The issue price of 2.5 cents per share under the Proposal is at a discount of 12% to
the market prices in the period from | June 2003 to 15 July 2003 and a discount of
17% and 22% respectively to the market prices in the four week and three month
periods prior ta the announcement of the Proposal.

53 In the light of Tennyson’s financial circyumstances and capital requirements to
sypport its prodycts, we consider that the substantial level of funding provided
under the Proposal is ynlikely to be available on better terms from alternative

sources,
Financial Position if the Proposal Proceeds

54 Tennyson’s financial position and solvency will improve markedly if the Proposal
is approved. The company has a deficiency of net assets and current liabilities
exceed current assets by approximately $1 million at 30 June 2003. If the Proposal
is approved, Tennyson will have estimated net assets of 8.9 million following the
capital injection by Neoside. We set out below the unaudited statement of financial
position at 30 June 2003 together with:

(a)  the estimated position after making adjustments to reflect the major changes
in Tennyson’s financia] position since 30 June 2003 and prior to the
completion of the Proposal (including trading losses to 31 August 2003);
and

(b) following the completion of the Proposal encompassing the capital raising
of §9.776 million and the repayment of advances from Neoside and Vagg
and payment of the remaining backlog of creditors from the proceeds of the
Proposal,

(22)
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30 June 2003 PEa.:timated | Proforma
000) Unaudited rior to tho *© Following the
Proposal Propossl
Current assets
Cash 85 A87 7,563
Receivables ‘ 329 329 329
Inventories 1,015 1,015 1,015
Other ¢urrent assets 28 25 25
1.454 1,856 8,932
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 600 600 600
Total assets 2,054 2.456 9,332
Current liahilitles '
Payables 1,116 716 266
Interest begring liabilities
Bank borrowings (secured) s6 - -
Advances from directors (unsecured) 916 - -
Advances from Neoside and Vagg 2,250 -
Other provisions 338 338 338
2,426 3,304 604
Non-current liapilities
Other provisions . 32 32 32
Total liabilities 2,458 3,336 636
Net assets / (defjciency) (404) (880) 8,896
Shareholders® Equity
Contributed equity 36,438 36,662 46,438
Reserves (2) (¢ ()
Accumnlated losses (36,34D) (37,540 (37,540)
Total equity/ (deficiency) (404) (R80) 8.896

55

Tennyson’s deficiency of net assets has deteriorated since 30 June 2003 dueto
ongoing trading losses. The major changes in Tennyson’s financial position from
30 June 2003 to the end of August 2003 were:!

(a)

the placement of shares to raise $224,000 on 17 July 2003;

(23)
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(b)  the drawing down of the wotking facilities from Vagg subsequent to 30
June 2003 tptalling $250,000;

(c) the partial payment of the backlog of trade creditors totalling $150,000; and
(d) fundihg of trading losses of approximately $700,000.

56 It is anticipated that the Neoside working facility will be drawn down during
September and October 2003 and ysed to fund trading cashflow requirements,
repay the advances from directors and bank overdraft and make further partial
payments of the creditors’ backlog.

57 - If the Proposal does not proceed, there is significant uncertainty about Tennyson’s
ability to continue as a going concern, Tennyson’s activities would need to be
curtailed while urgent alternative funding is sought and/or assets sold. There isa
risk that Tennyson would be placed in administration if alternative funding was not
available.

Other Matters Considered

58 Another benefit of the Praposal is that Tennyson secures sufficient funding for its
working capital requirements for the remainder of the 2004 financial year and is in
a position to pursue the opportunity to re-establish the SOX business and grow the
Datareach business. Without the fimding provided under the Proposal, the ability
of Tennyson to pursue the development of these businesses would be uncertain and,
at best, delayed while alternative funding is sought.

59 We consider that, on balance, the benefits of the Proposal as outlined above
outweigh the negative factors associated with the Proposal from the view point of
the existing sharsholders of Tennyson; namely, the dilution of the shareholding
interest of the existing shareholders and other disadvantages which were discussed
eatlier in this report.

(24
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Appendix A
Declarations and Disclosures
Qualifications
PwCS is beneficially owned by the partners of PricewaterhoyseCoopers (“PwC”), a large
intarnational firm of chartered accountants and business advisors. PwCS is a licensed
secyrities dealer under the Act and, as such, is licensed to provide advice on security
related matters.

Andrew Edwards, the person responsible for the preparation of this Report, is a partner in
PwC and authorised representative of PwCS with extensive experience in the preparation
of corporate valuations and the provision of corporate financial advisory services to
corporations involved in takeovers, capital raisings and mergers and acquisitions.

Independence

We have considered qur independence from Tennyson and related parties, having regard to
ASIC Practice Note 42, and we do not consider that there are any circumstances which
conflict with our independence from Tennyson which hinder our ability to provide
objective independent advice,

Neither PwCS, PwC nor the author of this report have, at the date of this Report, or have
had within the previous two years, any shareholding in or other relationship with either
Tennyson ar related parties (other than the provision of professional services for time
based fees) that could reasonably be regarded as capable of affecting its ability to provide
an unbiased opinion in relation to the proposed transactions.

Neither PwCS, PwC nor the author of this report have any interest in the outcome of the
proposed transactions, PwCS is entitled to receive a fee from Tennyson based on normal
professional hourly rates for the time taken in respect of the preparation of this report. The
estimated fee is up to $25,000 and will be paid regardless of whether or not the Proposal is
approved,

Indemnity _
The terms of PwCS’s appointment include 8 provision that Tennyson will indemnify
PwCS, PwC, its employees, officers and agents against any claim, liability, loss or
expense, cost or damage and liabilities arising out of reliance on any information or
documentation provided by Tennyson which is false or misleading or incomplete.

(25)
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APPENDIX A (cont)

Consent ' ,
PwCS has consented in writing to this Report in the form and context in which it appears
being included in the explanatory memorandum which will accompany the notice of
meeting which will be issued by the independent directors of Tennyson and which will be
distributed to Tennyson shareholders.

Neither PwCS nor PricewaterhouseCoopers have authorised or caused the issue of all or
any part of the notice of meeting. Neither the whale or any part of this Report nor any
reference to it may be included in or with or attached to any other document, circular,
resalution, letter or statement without the prior consent of PwCS to the form in which it
appears.

(26)
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APPENDIX B
Sources of Information
The principal sources of information used in the preparation of this report are as follows:

® Notice of General Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum to be provided to
shareholders in relation to the Proposal.

e Share Subscription Agreement and Working Capital Facility Apreement with Neoside

» Financial statements and half yearly reports for Tennyson for the financial period
ended 30 June 2000, 2001 and 2002 and 31 Decernber 2002.

e Unaudited management acoouynts and draft annual report for the year ended 30 June
2003.

e Management'’s forecast cashflow and financial performam:e for the year ending June
2003.

s Management’s forecast cashflow and financial perfonnance for the SOX business for
the three years ending June 2006,

» Publicly available information about Tennyson and other cornpanies in the
telecommunications technology industry available from:

(a) IRESS ~ integrated real time equity system

®) Connect 4 — company annoyncements

(c) Bloomberg LP — comparable company financial analysis
(d) Individual company websites.

e Discussions with the management of Tennyson.

@7
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SCHEDULE 2 — CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Existing Capital Structure prior to Share and Optien Issues

Number of Shares currantly held by Neoside Q
Number of other Shares on issua ' ‘ 170,926,958
Undlluted issued capital' 170,926,958
Number of Opfions on issue 13,680,000
Diluted lssued capital® 184,606,958

Capital Structure after Share and Optien Issues

Number of Shares that will ba held by Neoside after issue 391,040,000
Number of other shares on issve 170,926,958
Undlluted issued capital 561,966,958
Number of Options on jasue® 22,013,333
Diluled issued capltal 583,980,291

Existing Interests of Neoside Py Lid prior to Share and Option Issues

Shares currently held by Neaside 0
Opfians currently held by Neosids® o}
Biluted percentage Sharehelding® (%) 0%
Undiluted pereentage Shareholding” (%) ' 0%
Nepside's Yoting Pawer undar Corporgtions Acl® s}

Interests of Neoside Pty Lid after Share and Option Issues

Shares that will ke held by Neasids affer jssue? 391,040,000

Options that will be held by Noeoslda gfter jssue® o)

Diluted parcentage Shareholding® (%) 67.0%

Undiluted percentage Shareholding” {%) 69.6%

Neosida's Yating Power under Cerparations Act? 69.6%
{Footnokes]

! “Undiluted |ssued Caplimal® means the numher of Shares an l1sve ai the relevant time.
* “Biluted lssued Capital” maan tha number of Shares fot yould be on lssue If ol jssued Opliens were exercised,
% Ineludes the 8,333,333 Qptions to ba issued 1o Yagg Invesiment.
1 Includes al} Shares in which Neoside hos g “relevant Inferest!,
# Includes all options in which Neoside has a “relovant inferast”,
¢ “Diluted porcentage Shareholding” means the percantage of Shares that Necslda has of Tonnyson's Diluted Jssuad Capaltal,
? *Und|luled porcantage Shareholding” means tho porcentoge of Shares that Neaside has of Tannyson's Undiluled lssued Capikal.
8 This Includes the raleyant jnterests of Neeside and iis associgtes,

NQOTICE ©F GENERAL MEETING a7
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SCHEDULE 3 — OPTION TERMS AND CONDITIONS

The tertms and condifions of the Options to be issued fo Vdgg Invastment are as fallows;

(a)
(k)

fe)

n

fib
(k)

l

{m)

{n)
{ol
(el

{g)

{r)

Each Opfion will be jssued for no eopsideration.

Each Optiop shall anfil the holder to the right te subsaribe for and be dlioited one share upen exerciza of the
Optlion and payment to the Company of 3 cents per shars.

Each Option will autamatically lapse If not exereised by 5.00pm Eastern Standard Time on the business day 12
menths after the date of issue [expiry date].

An Optjon may be exercised at any time prier te the expiry date by sanding a completed signed notice of
exercise, fogsther with the payment as prescribed in (b] above for each Option and the certificate for the
Options, lo the Company's registerad office. If the Optlon helder holds more than one Oplion, the Options mey
ba exercised in whale or in part.

Cptions may only be exercised sa as Jo rasull in the helding of a markelable parcel within the meaning of the
Listing Rules of the Australian Stock Exchange Limited (“Lisfing Rules”).

A nalice of exareise is anly effective when tha Company has received the full ameunt of the exerclse price In cash
or cleared funds,

Within 14 days of receipt of a properly executed nofice af exarcisa and the required application moneys the
number of shares specified (n the nolics will be allafted.

Separate Optians earfifientss will be issued for the cerlifiegted haldings. Eqch certificote will bear a suilahle farm
of notice of exercise of the Opttons, sndorsed on the back of the certifieate, for complation by the holder of the
Options [if required). If the Options comprisad In any such certificate are exercised in part only, bafore tha expiry
date, the Company will reissue Option certificatas for the Options not yet exercised.

The Options may be fransferred at any time prior o their expiry, provided that such transfer is made to a persen
ta whom disclosure under Divisiap 2 of Part 6D.2 of the Corporatfions Act 2001 {Cth} {the Acf] is nef required
due le the application of an exceplion under sectjon 708 of fhe Act.

The period during which the Optians mey be exercised will not be extended.

Oplions will be reorganised as required by the Listing Rules an a reorganisalion (including censolidation,
subdivisien, reduction or return) of capital and the rights of an Option holder will be changsd to the
extert necessary fo comply with the Listing Rules applying to a reorganisation of capital at the time of the
rearganisation.

Ogtian halders are nat enfilled ko participate in new isswes of securifies offerad to sharsholders, Option holders
ean participate in new [ssues of securifies offerad to shareholders if the Oplion is exarelsed bafore the relevant
record date for that new issue, Optian holders will ke advisad at least 9 Business Days (as defined In the Listing
Rules] hefore the record date for a proposed naw issue.

If from time to fime before the expiry of any OFrions the Company makes an issue of shares to the heldars of
ordinary shares by way of cdpitqﬁsqﬁon of profifs or reserves {a “bonys issug”) other than in flew of @ dividend
payment, then upon exercise of an Ogtlon the Option helder will be antitled to have issved fo it [in addition te
the shares which it Is otherwise entitled to have Issued to it upon such exercise) additlanal shares in the Company.
The number of additianal shares is the number of sharas which would have been (ssuad o it under that bonus
issua (“bonus shares”) if on the date on which enfitlements wera calculated it had keen registered as the halder
of the number of shares which it would have been reglsterad as halder if immediately before thet date it had
exercised jis Options, The banus shares will ke poid up by the Company out of profits or reserves {as the case
may be} in tha same manner as was applied In relaticn to the bonus issue and upon issua will rank pari possu
In all respacts with the other shares allotted upen exercisa of the Qptions,

In the event of & pro raka isspe by the Company (ofher than q bonus Issue) the exercise price for each Option will
be adjusted in accardance with the Listing Rules.

The Company will aﬁply to the Australian Stack Exchenge Limited far oFiclal quatation of all ordinary shares
allotted pursuant to the exarcise of the Oplions,

Shares alletfad pursuant to the exercise af tha Options will rank equally with the then issued ordinary shares of
the Company.

There will be ne Mransfar restrictions on shares lssued on exercise of the Oplions unless the sale by the holder of
the shares issued on exerelse of the Oplions would raquire the Company ta prepare & disclosure doeument {as
that term is defined in the Act. If a disclosure document is required tﬁe holder will enter into such orrangements
with the Company as the Company considers appropriote to prevent the haldar fram dealing with the shares for
the period during which the disclosura dacument wauld he required on a sele of those sharas.

These terms and conditiens may be amanded from fime to time by resalution cf the Company in general meeting
in geeordance with the Listing mles.
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